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PROCEEDTINGS

(9:06 a.m.)

JUDGE BARNETT: Good morning. Please be
seated.

Well, today marks the commencement of the
-- we changed our rules. Ours are turned off, and I
have to remember to turn them on.

Today marks the commencement 6f the
Copyright Royalty Judges' hearing to determine terms
and royalty rates for the transmission of sound
recordings by satellite radio and, in air quotes,
preexisting subscription services. The Docket
Number is 16 CRB-0001 SR/PSSR. And we are setting
the rates and terms for the period 2018 through 2012
-- excuse me, through 2022, inclusive.

For those of you I haven't met, I'm
Judge Suzanne Barnett. Seated to my right is Judge
Jesse Feder, and to my left is Judge David
Strickler.

Our attorney advisor, Ms. Kim Whittle,
has been drafted for the duration to serve as the
hearing room clerk. She's there soaking up some
sunshine. She shall manage all exhibits and keep
the official record of admitted and refused

exhibits.
{

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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At the end of the hearing, she will also
work with your staff to return or destroy exhibits
that you did not offer into evidence.

Seated at the back of the room is our
senior counsel, Mr. Richard Strasser. He might or
might not attend all days of the hearing at his
discretion.

You have met the court reporter -- I
presume have met the court reporter, Ms. Karen
Brynteson. She is phenomenal, just so you know.
She has just come off the six weeks of the
Phonorecords trial and is game to return and serve
us in this particular hearing. Please respect the
amazing skill and patience of Ms. Brynteson by
speaking one at a time clearly, slowly, or at a
conversational speed.

We will have a recess each morning and
each afternoon, and I have directed the court
reporter to signal us at any time that she might
need to stop for any reason.

We have three participants in this
hearing -- four, excuse me, Mr. Johnson, I didn't
count you, but I was -- it was a tough morning.

As an aside, it is public knowledge,

indeed statutorily mandated, that the Judges may

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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employ three full-time staff members total. In the
interest of full disclosure, I want to state that
some of the participants in this proceeding who work
with larger teams of eager beavers have pitched in
generously. We have welcomed, thankfully,
assistance with logistics, technology, document
preparation, and moral support.

The Judges do not know and thus cannot be
influenced by which participants in particular
provided the necessary assistance, but we greatly
appreciate it. And I know Ms. Whittle --

Ms. Whittle's survival sort of depended on it.

Motions have continued to flow in to our
office, and we, as a Panel, have had only limited
discussion of the contents of some of the papers
filed most recently. So to the extent you have
filed an objection, you may make that known on the
record and just refer us to the papers.

But objecting parties should bear in mind
the following principles: On timely objection, the
Judges will disregard any testimony they deem expert
opinion offered by a lay witness or expert opinion
offered by an expert they deem beyond the bounds of
the witness' expertise.

The Judges will allow an expert to base

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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an opinion on facts or data in the case that the

expert has been made aware of or personally observed
and, if experts in the particular field would
reasonably rely on those kinds of facts or data in
forming an opinion on the subject. The source data
need not be admitted or admissible for the opinion
to be admitted.

Second, the Judges will disregard any
fact evidence offered by a lay witness they deem to
be beyond the scope of his or her personal knowledge
as established by preliminary questions.

Third, the Judges will disallow and
disregard testimony they deem to be irrelevant.

And, fourth, with regard to hearsay
evidence, the Copyright Act provides that the Judges
may admit hearsay evidence to the extent they deem
appropriate. And that citation for your edification
is 17 U.S.C. Section 803 (b) (6) (C) (iii), little I.

Consequently, if a party objects to
evidence on the basis of hearsay, then we're going
to go back to the party offering the evidence to
demonstrate why the Judges should deem the evidence
admissible. That is, I think the statutory standard
is appropriate. So the offering party may cite a

hearsay exception under the Federal Rules of

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Evidence or may offer some other reason why the

Judges should deem the evidence appropriate.

All parties will have an opportunity to
make an opening statement describing what they
expect the evidence to show. I am almost
embarrassed to remind such an elite group that
opening statements are meant as a guide to assist
the Judges. The statements and comments of counsel
are not evidence. The evidence will be the
evidence.

The Judges will focus on the evidence and
will not impose demerits on counsel or parties for
evidence that is inconsistent in any particular with
the opening statements. Remember, opening
statements are also not an opportunity to argue your
case.

Counsel then will examine witnesses in
the order upon which the parties have agreed. And,
by the way, we do like that innovation. All parties
may cross-examine each witness.

At the end of the presentation of all
evidence, direct and rebuttal, the parties will have
an opportunity to make closing arguments in which
they state the applicable law and the way they wish

the Judges to apply that law to the evidence.
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By agreement of the parties, the Judges

will consider the written testimony of Mr. Raymond
Hair and Mr. Terence Smith. Neither of those
witnesses will appear for oral testimony.

A word about evidence required in
proceedings to set royalty rates and terms. Please
be reminded that the Judges have an obligation to
set both rates and terms. In any proceeding, just
because a regulation is in the current Code of
Federal Regulations does not mean that the Judges
are adopting that term for the coming rate period.

The Judges can determine rates or terms
-~ excuse me, cannot determine rates or terms
without an evidentiary record. This particular
gathering has the advantage of having regulations
codified that have been ruled upon previously by
Judges. And for that reason, we can hear evidence
only about the changes that each side wishes to have
to those regulations as opposed to having to
establish a basis for the entire set of regulations.

All parties are advised to monitor their
progress to be sure they're not focusing solely on
royalty rates at the expense of the necessary
administrative terms.

Now, if you're in this hearing room

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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today, vou're undoubtedly aware that the issues the
Judges consider require review of sophisticated
economic analyses, confidential business strategies,
and sensitive financial information. Early in this
proceeding, the Judges issued a protective order
requiring every participant to follow a protocol to
maintain and protect the confidential nature of
information the parties rely upon to advocate for a
desired royalty rate.

The fact that this is an open hearing
does not override the parties' need to protect their
confidential business information. Throughout all
the early phases of this proceeding, all parties
have diligently marked and edited confidential
documents and have filed copies of all documents
redacted for public viewing along with restricted
documents for the Judges' review.

Whenever a party needs to question a
witness regarding restricted documents or testimony,
the Judges will direct that any person in the
hearing room who has not signed an appropriate
nondisclosure certificate to please leave the room
and wait outside until we reopen the room.

Counsel, I don't know if any of you are

having realtime -- realtime transcripts or 1f you

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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are having those streamed to your offices. If so,
please be advised that the protective order applies
to your office and assure that no individual is able
to gain access to the realtime screen unless that
individual is permitted by the protective order.

We really appreciate your cooperation in
this matter.

At this time, I will ask each lead
counsel to please stand, identify yourselves for the
record, introduce your client representatives, if
any, your co-counsel, and staff. Thank you.

MR. RICH: Good morning, Your Honors.
Bruce Rich from Weil, Gotshal & Manges. We're here
representing Sirius XM. With me at counsel table
are my partners Todd Larson and Randi Singer, my
senior colleague Jacob Ebin, who you spent some
quality time with. Our client representatives --

JUDGE BARNETT: Like an old friend.

MR. RICH: Our client representatives
include Patrick Donnelly, who is the general counsel
of the company, and two senior counsel with the
company, Cynthia Greer and Chris Harrison. And we
have a variety of other colleagues who -- many of
whom will stand up before you and you'll get to know

on examinations. Thank you.
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JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

MR. HANDZO: Good morning, Your Honors.
I'm David Handzo with Jenner & Block on behalf of
SoundExchange. We have a couple of representatives
of SoundExchange, Colin Rushing, Brad Prendergast,
present in the courtroom, and my colleagues from
Jenner & Block Jared Freedman, Alex Trepp -- where
is everybody else? They're all in the back some
place. Steve Englund, Kendall Turner, I see, and
Sam Birnbaum, and Devi Rao smiling back there, and
Previn Warren waving his hand trying to be seen.
And then alsgo representing SoundExchange, from the
Sidley Austin firm, Rollin Ransom and Peter Ostroff.
So I hope I didn't offend anyone by
leaving them out, but I think I covered it all.
JUDGE BARNETT: I'm sure I'll ask them to
introduce themselves when they stand at the -- at
the lectern. Thank you, Mr. Handzo. Mr. Fakler?
MR. FAKLER: Good morning, Your Honors.
My name is Paul Fakler with the firm of Arent Fox.
Very happy to be before you representing Music
Choice in this proceeding. I have with me today
Paula Calhoun, the executive vice president and
general counsel of Music Choice, as well my

colleagues Jackson Toof, Margaret
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Wheeler-Frothingham, and our legal assistant, Jack

Hitt.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

MR. JOHNSON: Good morning, Your Honors.
George Johnson from Nashville, Tennessee. I'm a
ginger and sound recording creator. Great to be
with you this morning.

JUDGE BARNETT: Welcome, Mr. Johnson.

Okay. I did not check ahead to see if
anyone's opening statement might have restricted
material in it, but you may begin with your public
opening statement.

Mr. Rich, I see you putting your glasses
in your pocket. Does that mean you're beginning?

MR. RICH: I think I'm the designated
hitter. Thank you, Your Honor.

JUDGE BARNETT: Okay.

MR. RICH: We do have some restricted
material, but what we've done is segment it into our
demonstratives, and we'll simply refer to it so we
don't have to segregate a portion of it and
hopefully keep the entire opening on the public
record.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you, Mr. Rich.

MR. RICH: We'll put up slides -- as I

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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understand the technology, we'll put up slides on
the public screen except those that are designated
restricted.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

MR. RICH: Any mistakes are not mine
because I'm not a technologist.

OPENING STATEMENT ON BEHALF OF SIRIUS XM
MR. RICH: May it please Your Honors, it's
absolutely a pleasure to be back. It doesn't seem
so long ago since we were last standing before you,
although you probably feel distinctly differently
about that.

JUDGE BARNETT: We missed you the last
few weeks.

MR. RICH: Well, thank you. We were well
represented, or so I hope, anyway.

JUDGE BARNETT: Indeed you were.

MR. RICH: Thank you. So, Your Honors,
this case arises in a somewhat unusual posture.
There are two prior fully litigated proceedings
involving the very same parties. We call them
Satellite I and II or SDARS I and II, and I know
you're very familiar with them.

And, in addition, we of course have

another recent 114 ruling. That is the Web IV

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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ruling, which was a willing buyer/willing seller

case, unlike this 801(b) case -- and I'll get to
more of that in a moment -- involving setting rates
for subscription of non-interaction webcasting
services and, of course, ad-supported webcasting
services, the likes of Pandora.

And, indeed, although not a prominent
part of that case, it's certainly notable that our
own client, Sirius XM, operates a webcasting service
and was party to that litigation as well and
operates pursuant to its terms.

And that proceeding involved the same
gsellers and the same rights and rates that reflected
or that were adjusted to reflect by Your Honor the
forces of effective competition. So Your Honors are
not writing on a blank slate here, way beyond, point
taken, Judge Barnett, terms that are there.

Much more significantly in the big
picture, to us anyway, is there's a lot of
jurisprudence on which this proceeding can and
should build.

I'm going to spend a reasonable amount of
time in my opening as backdrop reviewing what we
understand to be and our economists understand to be

the most salient aspects of the most recent of the

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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satellite SDARS rulings, the SDARS II case, as well

as the Web IV ruling, because we think that they
provide important guidance to the rate-making
process here and should be given careful attention.

Both parties, as you read through the
wealth of evidence, make much of these respective
precedents but in dramatically different ways. As
we hope to demonstrate, our client proposes rates
and rate methodologies that align, that align, with
both of those precedents.

And in contrast, we intend to
demonstrate, rooted principally in the benchmarking
methodology of one of SoundExchange's principal
economic experts, Mr. Orszag, they adopt
interpretations that would literally resurrect the
discredited methodology that SoundExchange proposed
in the prior SDARS proceeding and that would
generate rates that would immediately more than
double the current statutory rates paid by our
client, immediately more than double them, and that
further would result in our client paying rates more
than double those determined by Your Honors to be
reasonable for the quite comparable subscription
non-interactive webcasting services. So double the

existing rate from the prior SDARS precedent and
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double the rate determined to be reasonable for the

quite analogous subscription branch of
non-interactive webcasters.

So how does SoundExchange purport to
accomplish that? Well, they attempt to engraft on
Sirius XM rates the very interactive service
licensing market that Your Honors, not too many
months ago, 15 or so months ago, determined in Web
IV to be wholly noncompetitive, to be the product of
complementary oligopoly pricing by the major labels.

And, indeed, the very methodology which
Mr. Orszag deploys to get there is identical,
identical, in every respect to the methodology used
by SoundExchange's expert witness in the SDARS II
proceeding, Dr. Ordover, that generated rates which
the Judges rejected there as being well outside the
bounds of reasonable rates.

Now let me pause and mention by way of
background -- and have we handed out the
demonstratives yet? Thank you very much. If we
turn to the first slide, please.

I want to just start by emphasizing the
analytic foundation for the 801 rate-making in this
proceeding. This is not a legal discussion. This

is sort of as a matter of economics how we believe
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this should be approached.

We believe that the right analytic
approach to this case is first to evaluate proposed
benchmarks for their conformance to rates that
willing buyers would pay willing sellers in an
effectively competitive market with respect to the
target market, the rights that are in issue here.

Now, admittedly, that doesn't end the
801 (b) analysis, but it's well established that
801 (b) adjustments are to be made after identifying
a zone of reasonableness based on the various market
benchmarks that Your Honors will evaluate.

If we can move to slide 2. Mr. Orszag
will testify, you see his amended written testimony
before you, that no further adjustments indeed are
warranted from the product of negotiations in that
competitive marketplace. So he doesn't disagree as
to the starting point. He would argue that's the
beginning and the end of the analysis.

We would suggest, based on the
legislative history and the rationale of 801 (b) and
its application in prior adjudications, that his
view is not entifely accurate, that 801 (b) has been
understood as not requiring mimicking market rates,

but at the same time, no credible argument can be
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made that the 801 (b) factors should be applied or
have they ever been applied to increase SDARS rates
above their fair market value. And there's reason
for that.

This reflects the fact that, at the time
the DMCA was enacted in 1998, the 801 (b) provisions
were grandfathered in over the objections of the
record industry so as not to literally impose strict
willing buyer/willing seller standards on the
entities and industries before you in this
proceeding.

And the reason was straightforward.
Congress wanted to foster their continued
development and enhance the prospects of their
ultimate success. So in keeping with that
legislative determination, subsequent rate
tribunals, including the Judges in Satellite I and
II proceedings, have reduced the rates for 801 (b)
services below otherwise fair market value, based
upon their application of one or more of those
policy factors.

Now, in weighing the evidence here, we
urge Your Honors to be leery of arguments of the
type you will hear from another of SoundExchange's

experts -- this is Professor Willig -- to the effect
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that it's appropriate, at least one way to view

801 (b) rate-making, that it's appropriate to divorce
the 801 (b) objectives from their competitive
marketplace touchstones.

That -- arguments that would attempt to
justify imposing on our client supra-competitive
rates from markets that are infected with record
label market power based on the argument that such
markets simply "are what they are," competition
notwithstanding.

Now, I said I wanted to drill down a
little bit on our -- what we believe are the key
linchpins of the SDARS II and Web IV precedents and,
then I'll move to application here to our case.

So in the SDARS II proceeding, which was
2012 and I believe was the first proceeding, Judge
Barnett, that you presided over, that proceeding set
rates for 2013 to 2017 for our client in a range
from 9 to 11 percent of gross revenue.

And that represented an increase from the
SDARS I rates, which had been set covering the 2007
to '9 period of 6 to 8 percent. That's a typo.

2007 to 2012, pardon me, of 6 to 8 percent.
The methodology there, consistent with

what I've suggested, was to evaluate competing

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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benchmarks to see the zone of reasonableness,
establish a zone of reasonableness based on market
benchmarks, and then apply the 801 (b) factors to it.

Now, as of the time of SDARS II, Sirius
XM, first as separate entities, Sirius and XM and
then, as of 2008, the combined entities, had been in
business for about ten years, were offering
satellite radio service bundling music and non-music
programming with satellite-fed nationwide delivery
network that enabled subscribers seamlessly to
listen to the content of their choice, principally
by driving their vehicles nationwide.

We can see the next slide, please.

The Judges in SDARS II found the
following: Found that Sirius XM's mix of music and
non-music content was about 50/50. It found that
Sirius XM's demonstrated need to continue to make
substantial new investments to support satellite
technology, needed to continue to operate its
service, was a demonstrated fact. It found no
comparable record industry showing that
Internet-based streaming services coming from the
benchmarking put forth by SoundExchange, that there
was no comparable showing that the Internet-based

streaming services have ongoing distribution costs
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in the words of the opinion "anywhere near those of
Sirius XM, " and that the foregoing fact record
warranted a downward adjustment from the willing
buyer/willing seller rates to accommodate the third,
what we call relative contributions, factor of

801 (b), and finally found that Sirius XM's financial
circumstances had sufficiently improved from the
past that no factor for adjustment downward, that is
the disruption factor, was warranted.

Now, in that proceeding, Sirius XM's
primary rate proposal were the economic terms of its
developing direct license program. As the Judges
there recognized, that program implicated willing
buyer and willing seller transactions between the
same buyers and sellers involving the same rights
and implicitly baking in considerations of the
801 (b) factors.

The rates propagated by those licenses
and urged upon the Judges there was a range of 5 to
7 percent of revenues, which were somewhat below the
then prevailing statutory rates.

The Judges found this evidence of
voluntary transactions at rates below the statutory
license informative of rate-setting but, given a

number of limitations noted by the Judges,
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determined that that benchmark should form the lower
bound of the range of reasonableness to be set.

What did SoundExchange propose?
SoundExchange's proposal was based on royalties in
subscription interactive service agreements with
adjustments proposed by Dr. Ordover, their
economist. His alternative methodologies for
deriving fees from these agreements yielded fees
between 22 and 32 percent of Sirius XM revenue.

Next slide, please.

The Judges found that the interactive
services market failed to offer a foundation for
rate-gsetting in this distinct market, given among
other factors different rights, buyers, attributes,
and functionality as compared to the target market.
The Judges found there was a "yawning gap" between
the rates proposed by Dr. Ordover, 22 to 32 percent,
and the then prevailing 8 percent rates such that
that gap "raised serious concern."

Next slide.

The Judges found that Dr. Ordover's
primary approach to adjusting interactive service
fees generated fees so astronomical as to fall
outgide of any zone of reasonableness. As to what

they termed his principal alternative approach, that
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generated fees so high at most as to suggest an
upper bound but one "that the Judges have little
confidence in."

Turning to the 2015 Web IV determination,
as noted, that implicated determinations of rates
under a willing buyer/willing seller standard for
both advertising-supported and subscription
non-interactive webcasters. Next slide.

Your Honors confirmed there that you were
"required by law to set a rate that reflects a
market that is effectively competitive." Next
slide, please.

You also found that the interactive
service market featuring rates -- featured rates
that are the product of must-have sellers, each of
whose intellectual property is a necessary
complement to the others' and that those market
factors meant that that market does not meet the
test of effective competition but, rather, is one
that results in supra normal pricing arising from a
complementary monopoly.

Pandora, whom we represented in that
proceeding, proposed a benchmark derived from its
agreement with the so-called Merlin labels,

independent group of -- consortium of independent
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record labels. That agreement contained rates for

Pandora's statutorily compliant both ad-supported
and subscription services. It reflected steering
benefits to those record labels who agreed to lower
their pricesg to receive more spins on Pandora. Next
slide, please.

Your Honors concluded that the per-play
rates in the Merlin agreement as applicable both to
the ad-supported service and the subscription
service embodied steering benefits and, therefore,
reflected those that would be reached between
willing buyers and willing sellers in an effectively
competitive marketplace.

You said, "the ability of non-interactive
services to steer toward lower priced recordings
(and by necessgity therefore, away from higher priced
recordings) is the essence of price competition.™

SoundExchange, for its part, again
modeled its benchmarking on the interactive sexrvice
agreements. Next slide, please.

Your Honors concluded that the
interactive services market was characterized by
complementary oligopoly power on the part of the
major record companies, that the market exhibits a

complete lack of price competition between and among
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record companies to secure additional plays of their
sound recordings on interactive services, that the
Majors were able to forestall any prospect of
steering by an interactive service, for example,
with respect to so-called service-directed
playlists, by inserting anti-steering provisions
into their agreements, provisions Your Honors
recognized as "a classic example of anticompetitive
conduct .

You said, "the Majors' capacity to
undermine price competition via steering is a
function of their complementary oligopoly power."

As a result of the foregoing, the
interactive serxrvice was determined by Your Honors as
not effectively competitive. That led Your Honors
to reject outright reliance on the interactive
services benchmark for fee gsetting for the primary,
for the primary, commerce involved in that
proceeding, which was ad-supported webcasting.

And in relation to the smaller market
segment there involved, which was subscription
non-interactive webcasting services, Your Honors
determined that the interactive services benchmark
properly applied and adjusted, properly applied and

adjusted, to account for its supra-competitive price
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levels, did provide corroborating evidence of the

rate that Your Honors derived from the subscription
per-play prong of the Merlin agreement, which was
the embodiment you found of steering.

Now, you did so, you said you can make
that benchmarking approach under very limiting
conditions and based on factual determinations
specific to the Web IV record. Notably, the record
there contained significant evidence concerning the
functional convergence between subscription,
non-interactive, and subscription interactive
webcasters.

Your Honors determined that reliance on
the interactive service benchmark there, despite its
supra-competitive pricing, was appropriate in the
limited circumstance where it's shown to be -- where
there is shown to be "sufficiently high cross
elasticity of demand" as between the benchmark and
the target services.

That you didn't have in mind there merely
some degree of competition or some degree of
substitutability between the two, but, instead, a
much more heightened showing is manifested in your
recognition that Professor Rubinfeld, who put -- put

forward SoundExchange's benchmarking there, that his
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proposed benchmark, you observed, "assumes a

one-to-one" -- one-to-one -- "opportunity cost for
record companies whereby on the margin a dollar of
revenue spent on a subscription to a non-interactive
service is a lost opportunity for the royalties from
a dollar to be spent on a subscription to an
interactive service."

Now, at that, even with those gating
requirements that you put around any resort in any
situation to this interactive service benchmark,
Your Honors also were precise in the methodology
that needed to be employed in undertaking that
benchmarking itself.

You rejected, you rejected,
SoundExchange's proffer of a benchmarking
methodology that would have called for payment of
the greater-of percentages of revenue and minimum
per-play rates derived from these interactive
service agreements, and you did so in favor of using
solely the minimum per-play rates extracted from
those licenses, rejected percent of revenue,
rejected greater of, and said we'll only draw from
minimum per-play rates in those licenses.

Stated differently, the starting point

for working from the interactive service benchmark
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following meeting the other gating requirements was
drawn solely and exclusively from the minimum
per-play rates contained in the body of interactive
service contracts reviewed and proposed by Professor
Rubinfeld.

You further undertook a series of other
downward adjustments to those minimum per-play
rates, including by the ratio of the average retail
price of non-interactive subscription services to
those of interactive subscription services.
Adjusting the minimum per-play rates by that ratio
was the form of "ratio equivalency" employed by Your
Honors in Web IV, a term you'll be hearing a lot
about in this proceeding.

You further required, on top of all of
that, the application of a downward steering
adjustment to compensate for the lack of price
competition observed in the interactive service
market.

Notably, ?ou confirmed the economic
soundness of this suite of methodologies and
limitations and adjustments by noting that the
resulting rate aligned closely to the per-play
subscription service rate in the Pandora/Merlin

agreement, which you had earlier validated on the

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

basis of its reflecting the effects of effective

competition.

So from that combined use of the
Pandora/Merlin per-play rate, which I won't read
into the record, and the Rubinfeld benchmark
adjusted, which I won't read into the record, you
arrived at a fee for non-interactive subscription
services of .22 cents per-play.

Now, we can get to issue joinder. The
parties, as I noted, interpret the relevance of
these precedents in remarkably different manner.

Next slide, please.

In this proceeding, Sirius XM begins by
asking what has changed since SDARS II and since the
record developed there, that might warrant either an
upward or a downward adjustment? The case involved
the same parties, the same rights, same 801 (b) legal
standard.

As you'll hear from two of our fact
witnesses, company's CEO, Jim Meyer, and its head of
programming, Mr. Blatter -- music programming,

Mr. Blatter, Sirius XM is offering the same
satellite radio service with the very same mix of
music and non-music content.

You'll hear from two additional
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witnesses, one by submission, Mr. Smith, and the

other, Bridget Neville, that Sirius XM continues to
make substantial new investments to support
satellite technology needed to continue to operate
its service.

Indeed, the evidence will show that those
expenditures during this license term are expected
to exceed those which Your Honor determined
sufficient to warrant and appropriate to warrant a
downward factor 3 adjustment in the SDARS II
proceeding.

Mr. Meyer, the CEO of our company, will
also testify to the essentially same competitive
landscape as Your Honors came to understand in the
SDARS II proceeding. While Internet streaming
services have grown in popularity, traditional
over-the-air radio remains the dominant source from
which subscribers come to Sirius XM and to which
they return if they leave Sirius XM.

To the extent so-called connective car
technology brings additional competition into the
dash, he will testify, Mr. Meyer will, that the
principal competition is expected to come from
"free," meaning ad-supported, webcasters like

Pandora offering similar lean-back radio-like
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listening experience, not to come to a significant
degree from subscription interactive services.

Now, it's true that the company has been
enjoying considerable financial success aftexr
decades of investment, accumulating many billions of
dollars, and many lean years. Paying subscribers,
revenues, profitability are all up from the past.

Now a restricted slide, please. You will
see it on your screens. But SoundExchange, as this
slide demonstrates, shares in that success under the
percentage-of -revenue formula that has been and that
is proposed by the parties to continue in place.
Over the past five years alone, Sirius XM's payments
to SoundExchange, I won't read the actual numbers,
they're confidential, have grown by some 80 percent.

SoundExchange's total 2016 collections
were reported to be about 952 million dollaxrs. You
can do the math, from the 2016 and projected 2017
bar graph under the existing rate structure, to see
what a significant percentage of total SoundExchange
collections are represented by the payments of our
client.

For its part, the record industry also is
doing just fine. Next slide, please. That's a

public slide.
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For its part, the record industry is

really doing just fine. There's a -- there's a lot
of stuff in the other side's case suggesting that
Sirius XM should pay a lot more because its doing
wonderfully well. But this is a two-sided coin, and
as you'll see, the record industry, in spite of the
growth of streaming and claims of significant
diversion and the like, which we'll get into with
our witnesses in great detail, is doing just fine.

Its -- its revenues were at worst flat
from 2012 forward and have spiked upward healthily
as of 2016. Next slide is restricted, please.

The Majors' profitability is also healthy
and growing as depicted on this restricted slide,
which I won't read any further into the record.

Now, despite what you'll hear from
SoundExchange's experts, Sirius XM is not depriving
the record industry of revenues it would otherwise
be receiving from either download sales or
subscriptions to interactive services. There's no
credible evidence that you will hear that supports
that.

If anything, to the extent the data
relied on by the other side has wvalidity, we will

demonstrate that it leads to the opposite
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conclusion, that Sirius XM is net promotional, net
promotional, of record industry revenue.

The counterfactual nature of the
SoundExchange's assertion is only underscored by
fact testimony you will hear from people like
Mr. Blatter, our music programming pefson, and
indeed a prominent -- representative of a prominent
independent label, proffered by SoundExchange
itself, Mr. Barros of Concord, who attests to the
distinctly important promotional value that Sirius
XM has on record industry revenue.

Next restricted slide, please.

The record will also show -- and we're
still talking about what has changed, Your Honors.
The record will show -- well, let me ask this next
question, which is -- the next question to explore,
we would submit, is what changes of potential
relevance have happened, if any, in the market in
which interactive services are licensed?

And as the record will show, there have
been no material changes, very important slide, no
material changes in the rates charged on demand
services. If anything, they've declined slightly i
past years.

There has been no change at all in the

Heritage Reporting Corporation
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status of the Majors as complementary oligopolies.

There is no change in the complete absence of price
competition between Majors to secure additional
plays on those interactive services.

Anti-steering provisiong, about which you
wrote and -- and you heard testimony, remain
prevalent. They assure that no semblance of
steering even on playlists, promotions, or other
limited areas where interactive sexrvices might be
able to steer musical recordings and inject price
competition can occur, just locks it down. It says
it won't happen.

What about changes of potential relevance
in the upstream markets for licensing
non-interactive subscription services? How does
that picture look?

As Professor Shapiro, from whom you'll
hear next, will testify, there actually is some more
evidence of steering and the effects of license fees
as a result since the SDARS II proceeding. You'll
hear about Sirius XM's continued and growing direct
license efforts. And, of course, there's the record
of what subscription service fees were generated by
the Pandora/Merlin agreement you reviewed and found

highly probative in the 2014 webcasting proceeding.
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So lining up these various data points

against SDARS II and Web IV precedents, we submit
and we will prove that no factors, no factors, point
to a change of circumstance warranting an increase
in the prevailing rate and there is at least
emerging evidence of competitive market rates that
suggest, if anything, that the existing statutory
level may be too high.

All of which leads Sirius XM to propose
rates in the 8 percent to 11 percent range, derived
not merely from the evidence supporting maintaining
the licensing status gquo or roughly, but two other
benchmarks as well to which I'll now turn.

Next slide.

Building on SDARS II, this is a -- thank
you. Building on SDARS II, one of those benchmarks
is constructed from more up-to-date -- a more
up-to-date body of direct license experience of our
client. There are now some 540 direct licenses with
independent record labels. That's up from about 95
at the time of SDARS II.

Mr. White of Sirius XM will testify as to
the scope of these and the coverage, some 2250
catalogues, more than 4 million tracks, a broad

range of musical genres, a wide range of
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representation of prominent artists' sound

recordings, Grammy winners and the like.

As of July of 2016, just as a data point,
he testifies directly licensed repertory music
represented some 6.4 percent of all monthly spins on
Sirius XM satellite service. The rates in these
agreements typically ran -- run from between 7 and 9
and a half percent of labels' pro rata share of
revenues. Those rates have tracked higher in
relation to the increased statutory rate over the
2013 to 2017 period.

You'll hear from Professor Shapiro on
this phenomenon. He'll explain it's entirely
consistent with market -- the market wvaluing rights
below the statutory level, to the extent that it can
be demonstrated that labels, at least some labels,
sign these licenses in the interest of securing more
plays on Sirius XM. Much more about that to come.

Steering evidence, much debated on the
written record here. It will be the subject of
sharply conflicting testimony.

You'll hear from our side, in addition to
Professor Shapiro's interpretation of the evidence,
directly from Mr. White, who runs the direct license

program, as well as, I would suggest, again from
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Mr. Barros of Concord, that at least a significant

number of direct licensors likely entered these
agreements, were motivated to enter these
agreements, hoping and expecting that they would
receive additional plays on the service. That is
the essence of steering. That's what drives price
competition.

The rate that Professor Shapiro derives
from that updated body of evidence with appropriate
adjustments, as he'll discuss, is 9.87 percent of
revenue. Mr. Shapiro will also discuss the proper
weight he would recommend you give the direct
license evidence. He'll testify that while these
direct licenses are highly informative about the
appropriate willing buyer/willing seller rate for
the labels that entered into them, he'll candidly
acknowledge there is some degree of uncertainty
about whether major labels or even certain other
Indies might accept licenses at those levels.

Concerning this uncertainty, you'll hear
Professor Shapiro discuss that there is other
circumstantial evidence certainly, for example, of
the type of record labels including the Majors
actively seeking to have their works performed at

current statutory rates. You'll hear this, of
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course, from Mr. Blatter as well. And evidence

which strongly suggests that the current rate may be
an acceptable one even for major labels.

Next sglide, please.

In addition to the direct license
benchmark and the analysis of the lack of meaningful
change from the past, the third branch of our
rate-making proposal involves a modeling from rates
set by Your Honors for the subscription
non-interactive webcasting part of the market in the
Web IV proceeding.

And Professor Shapiro will explain why he
believes that forms a more robust benchmark here
against which to set rates in this proceeding. It
involves the same sellers, the same rights,
webcasters who include Sirius XM's webcasting
service, who are guite comparable along dimensions
relevant to rate-setting.

It draws in part also from the
Pandora/Merlin agreement relied upon in setting
the .22 cent per-play rate, which reflected the
forces of competition at work. And, again, that's a
central tenet, foundation for rate-setting here.

And -- and as we will discuss further in

detail, that .22 rate was corroborated by reliance
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on rates drawn from the interactive service
agreements with the Majors properly adjusted,
notably which resulted in a unitary rate for Majors
and Indies overcoming any so-called where are the
Majors and where would they £it in.

That piece of the puzzle was solved, as
it were, by that branch of your Web IV rate-making
where that component included by definition, since
it was drawn from agreements with the major labels,
it wag presumed to be a rate sufficiently
competitive or approximating a rate that a
competitive market would bear for both Majors and
Indie labels. So all of those factors commend
looking carefully at and modeling from properly that
prong of the Web IV ruling.

Now, Professgsor Shapiro shortly will tell
you that the proper methodology to derive an 801 (b)
rate for our client from the subscription webcaster
rate of .22 cents a play is actually quite
straightforward.

Your Honors used per-play rates in those
agreements, the interactive service agreements --
interactive subscription service agreements
appropriately adjusted to set per-play rates for

subscription non-interactive webcasters.
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Professor Shapiro similarly examines

those for their suitability as a benchmark here,
concludes that Sirius XM as a non-interactive
statutory subscription service should pay no more,
should pay no more per-play than do non-interactive
statutory subscription webcasters. There should be
an equivalence measured on a per-play basis.

He then converts that per-play
equivalence to an applicable percentage-of-revenue
rate for Sirius XM here, which he'll walk you
through, and, depending on what ARPU number proves
to be the correct and binding one here, derives a
bottom line rate of anywhere between 8, a touch over
8 percent and 9.6 percent.

And he then finally analyzes the 801 (b)
factors to determine potential differences in the
application of those factors as between such
webcasters and Sirius XM and whether those warrant
any adjustment. From that he identifies one
potential such adjustment, factor 3, in line with
how Your Honors analyzed it in the SDARS II
proceeding.

So to summarize our affirmative case, we
begin with rates set in SDARS II. We take account

of the Judges' evaluation of respective upstream
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markets for licensing satellite radio and

interactive services. The former reflecting
emerging competition, evidenced by direct licenses
in the target market. The latter viewed by the
Judges as problematic in terms of different rates,
attributes, functionality, and the absence of
effective competition.

We update a benchmark based on Sirius
XM's ongoing direct license experience. We examine
rates in the quite analogous webcasting market for
the licensing of subscription non-interactive
services. We observe that those rates derive in
part from competitive rates in the Pandora/Merlin
agreement and in part from steering-adjusted
per-play rates drawn from interactive service
agreements. We model off of that .22 per-play rate
from the totality of which our client proposes rates
to be get in the range between 8 and 11 percent.

Let me turn to SoundExchange's case, if I
may. And, Your Honor, I didn't make a note of when
we began. I want to observe.

JUDGE BARNETT: Nor did I.

THE CLERK: 9:18.

MR. RICH: 97

THE CLERK: 9:18.
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MR. RICH: Thank you very much. I'm
going to go not more than an hour. Mr. Fakler -- we
have agreed he will take half an hour.

Restricted slide next, please.

The cases, again, as I said, are a study
in contrasts. SoundExchange proposes a dramatic
rate increase. The change in -- and a change in the
prevailing rate structure requesting greater of
per-subscriber rates between $2.48 and $2.79 or
23 percent of revenue.

That's a more than doubling of the
prevailing 11 percent rate. And this slide, without
reading the numbers into the record, shows what the
dollar impact would be in 2018 alone on Sirius XM.
And, again, the math is compelling. If you compare
that 2018 number projected on this slide against
SoundExchange's 2016 total collections of 950
million dollars, I think it's -- it is breathtaking.

Now, how does -- how does SoundExchange
support this and how does it draw on these same
precedents we've been discussing?

Well, we will attempt to convince Your
Honors -- and I believe we will -- that, in fact,
their approach, rather than aligning with these

precedents, represents an absolute effort to
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undermine them completely.

As relates to SDARS II, SoundExchange's
expert, Mr. Orszag, literally, literally, represents
Dr. Ordover's discredited interactive services
benchmark and the adjustments, thereby generating
alleged reasonable rates between 25.7 and 28 percent
of Sirius XM's revenues.

His approach to rate-setting does nothing
to address, let alone overcome, the multiple grounds
on which the Judges in SDARS II concluded that this
benchmark resulted at best in rates at the outer
fringes of reasonableness. Now, professor Orszag
professes to justify this remarkable elevation of
fees in what he terms dramatic marketplace changes
in SDARS II, but he fails to identify any changes of
relevance.

The trial record will instead show that
nothing has changed as relates to distinctly
different rights, attributes, functionality
implicated in the interactive service upstream
licensing market.

SoundExchange replicates the yawning gap
between current rates and those it proposes that the
Judges in SDARS II concluded made that benchmark --

pardon me, between the current rates and those it
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proposes, same yawning gap between the rates it

proposes and the current rate as those found to
create the yawning gap between then prevailing
statutory rates and Dr. Ordover's proposal in the
SDARS II case.

Now, to be sure, Mr. Orszag tries to
dress up his do-over of Dr. Ordover by claiming to
follow methodology adopted by Your Honors in
determining rates for the subscription
non-interactive services in Web IV. But, in fact,
he does nothing of the kind.

As will be exposed shortly by Professor
Shapiro, his methodology doesn't remotely follow of
that of Your Honors in Web IV. And it most
certainly doesn't generate equivalent rates to those
paid by closely analogous subscription
non-interactive webcasters.

Make no mistake, Your Honors, using a
contrived acceptance of ratio equivalents,

Mr. Orszag in practical effect seeks to resurrect
the very rates that Your Honors rejected in SDARS II
as dramatically overstating the fair market value of
the rights being licensed here.

How does he get there? He assumes all

conditions precedent to benchmarking from the
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interactive sgervice benchmark have met here. He is

wrong. In contrast to the Web IV record, he has
offered no proof as to increased functional
convergence between our client here, Sirius XM, and
interactive services.

He has offered only the flimsiest support
for the notion that there exists a "sufficiently
high degree of cross elasticity of demand" as
between Sirius XM and interactive subscription
webcasters to make benchmarking from the latter
appropriate.

Indeed, he's so intent on dismantling the
economics underlying both the SDARS II and Web IV
rulings in favor of iﬁposing rate equivalence to the
interactive service marketplace, that in his
rebuttal testimony, he proposes discarding even a
steering adjustment that you found a critical and
necessary component to try to alleviate and mitigate
the taint of supra-competitive pricing.

Based on Mr. Orszag's review of the
discovery record, he has apparently concluded that
no steering adjustment even is warranted on the
basis that Sirius XM has no greater steering ability
than on-demand services. It's all, he says, a

matter of relativity. Since at bottom he's out to
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replicate the noncompetitive market conditions in

the interactive services market, I suppose it's only
logical that he would propose dropping any steering
adjustment here.

But even assuming, even assuming, there
is some legitimate basgsis to benchmark from that
interactive services market experience here,

Mr. Orszag also has failed in multiple ways to
follow the methodology laid out by Your Honors in
Web IV for doing so.

He doesn't benchmark from the per-play
rates derived from the interactive service
agreements, as did Your Honors. He instead reverts
to Dr. Ordover's approach, engaging in a wholly
different ratio equivalence, this one designed to
engraft the exorbitant percent of revenue rates in
those licenses that Your Honors expressly rejected
in Web IV.

These are the very, very same rates that
Your Honors said not a basis to extract and derive
reasonable fees, just 15 months ago.

Now, unsurprisingly, the simple math of
Mr. Orszag's modeling generates on a per-play basis
fees of between .59 to .64 per-play as compared

to .22 per-play, which is a huge, obviously,
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increase in proposed fees.

Now, he claims that this more than
doubling of existing rates is justified insofar as
"pertinent marketplace conditions have shifted and
evolved dramatically" in the years since SDARS I and
II were decided.

He goes so far as to assert that Sirius
XM's proposals are "outdated." Even since Web IV,
he says, these changes have occurred, and grounded
in "rates and consumer prices that existed ten years
ago in music distribution channels." Those are
quotes from him.

Now, from this gloss, from this gloss,
Mr. Orszag and, of course, SoundExchange would want
Your Honors to assume that there had been
significant increases in the royalty rates paid by
interactive services, as well as in the retail
prices paid by subscribers to those Services.

The problem with the gloss is it's wrong.
There's just no evidence to support it. And not
only has he failed to demonstrate any changes of
relevance, he has admitted, he has admitted, he
hasn't even tried to investigate them.

So he has made naked allegations, has

made no empirical investigation of relative change
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whatsoever, just made the allegations. He has made

no study of patterns of rates charged by interactive
-- charged by -- to interactive services by the
Majors since SDARS I, since SDARS II, or even from
Web IV. He has made no study of the patterns of
prices paid by consumers to subscribe to interactive
services over those time periods.

He asserts change. He can't cite any
evidence of it. And that's for good reason. There
is no such change.

Next restricted slide. That's not it.
Sorry, refer back to 14, restricted slide 14.

As we showed, Your Honors, the rates paid
by interactive services today are the same as at the
time of Web IV. If anything, they're slightly lower
than at the time of SDARS II.

Retail prices charged by interactive
services haven't changed at all since SDARS II. Nor
does or can Mr. Orszag cite evidence demonstrating
meaningfully different competitive conditions in the
upstream market for licensing interactive services,
evidence that would demonstrate that the interactive
service market no longer features complementary
oligopoly conditions and instead reveals price

competition between the major labels for additional
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plays on on-demand services.

Once again, the record will show the
exact opposite. The market operates every bit as
non-competitively as in the past.

Mr. Orszag claims that more recent
non-statutory agreements entered into by Pandora and
iHeart prove somehow that market prices for rights
covered by webcasting statutory licenses have
dramatically increased. Let me repeat that.

He cites a body of agreements conveying
non-statutory rights, additional rights of clearly
additional value, just like all other on-demand
marketplace agreements, as evidence somehow that the
Pandora/Merlin agreement from Web IV has been
superseded by those rates.

He has made no effort whatsocever to make
any adjustment for the palpable difference in the
rights conveyed and the value ascribed to those,
both by the negotiating parties on the Service side
and the negotiating record labels, both of whom will
-- clearly have said, well, I wouldn't pay any more
unless there was more value for it.

He just blithely says inconceivable to me
that there is really much value difference, just

would say plug in those rates as if there was no
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difference. Professor Shapiro again will address

numerous other flaws in his testimony.

Let me briefly mention Mr. Willig.
SoundExchange supplements Mr. Orszag's benchmarking
with expert testimony from Professor Willig, which
by way of color, as opposed to rate-making, purports
to empirically measure negative impact -- the
negative impact that streaming has had on record
industry revenue.

And he approaches rate-making, when he
gets to it, through certain opportunity cost, as he
calls it, calculations. Now, the expert testimony
of Professor Shapiro and Farrell on our side will
expose the many crippling flaws in that analysis.
And without stealing the thunder, just by way of
example, Professor Willig attempts to show that
Sirius XM has cannibalized download sales and also
that the record industry has lost substantial
revenue from other sources, mainly subscription
interactive services, by licensing Sirius XM at,
existing rates. To do so, he sweepingly contends
that the growth of "streaming," in which he
indiscriminately lumps together all manner of
digital music distribution, including satellite

radio, has had a substantial negative effect on
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record industry revenue.

And then he does some regression analysis
that purports to demonstrate this. He does not make
any effort, claims he can't, but he is wrong, to
break out specifically and isolate the impact that
our client has allegedly had on record industry
revenue.

But we have done that. We've taken his
regression, as you will hear from Professor Shapiro,
and done it right. And instead of doing a big
schmear, pardon my French, going industry-wide,
we've said the relevant question here is not the
effect of a Spotify or a Rhapsody; the effect is
here on us. And guess what happens when you do it?

The results in Professor Shapiro's words
are "dramatically reversed." Using Professor
Willig's own methodology, Sirius XM has been
strongly promotional of paid downloads while
interactive services have beeq strongly
substitutional of paid downloads.

Now, fundamental to Professor Willig's
approaches to rate-making is his calculation of what
he calls opportunity cost to the record industry of
licensing for a client. And relying on this

estimate, he concludes that a reasonable royalty to
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us should be in the range of $2.55 per sub, which is
more than double the existing rate, and indeed he
says, as a matter of pure logic from his numbers and
his reasoning, should be as much as seven times
higher than the existing rate.

Now, you can imagine that caught our
attention. Seven times higher. And with‘most
things too fantastical to be true, this analysis
proves no different.

As Professors Farrell and Shapiro will
explain, in calculating this amazing claimed
opportunity cost, Professor Willig loads the
analytic rabbit in the hat. His analysis is
designed to calculate the opportunity cost of Sirius
XM losing accesgs to every record label's music,
every record label's music, rather than the
opportunity cost to an individual record label
competing in the marketplace with other record
labels to license and gain plays on Sirius XM.

So constructed, Professor Willig's
analysis is tantamount to asking what the
opportunity cost would be to a must-have monopolist
that controls the rights to all sound recordings and
has the ability to shut down Sirius XM's entire

service. To be sure, not the governing ingquiry
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1 here. Professor Farrell, as you'll hear, identifies
' 2 other crucial errors in Professor Willig's

3 calculation of opportunity cost. For lack of time,
4 I won't detail those here.

5 So as a result of Professor Willig's

6 approach, he by design imports the supra-competitive
7 license fees, as you'll hear, from sort of a

8 quasi-benchmarking approach he also takes, secured

9 by labels from the interactive services and, again,
10 replicating in many ways the results sought by the
11 approaches adopted by Mr. Orszag would seek to

12 perpetuate and import into rate-making here the

13 supra-competitive fees derived from that

. 14 marketplace.

15 Professor Lys. He spends many pages

16 touting Sirius XM's ability to pay higher rates,

17 ability to pay. But as Professor Shapiro will

18 testify, this is a misguided argument, since this

19 801(b) proceeding is not about what the respective
20 parties can afford. It's what about willing buyers
21 would pay willing sellers for the rights involved in
22 a workably competitive marketplace tempered by the
23 801(b) policy considerations.
24 In such a market, the overall profits of

25 the buyer simply don't enter the equation. Now, let
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me be clear, Sirius XM is not seeking a reduction

from the rates based, otherwise coming out of
market-based rates here, on factor 4 disruption
regs. We are not doing that. To the extent the
thrust of Professor Lys's testimony is to forestall
such an argument, it's not only incorrect, but we
submit it's moot.

Your Honor, let me close with a couple of
minutes, at most a minute and a half, on terms and
revenue definitions. At the risk of getting into
the weeds of it, as you did mention appropriately,
that's a critical part of this case, I'm going to
mention four issues that are highly pertinent here.

As an overall proposition, we propose
maintaining the terms largely as they've been with
some minor clarification. SoundExchange, by
comparison, proposes some dramatic changes that
would amount to a significant de facto rate increase
for Sirius XM 1 bundled content.

SoundExchange proposes that revenue for
data services and non-mugic programming not subject
to the statutory license can only be excluded where
such programming is sold totally separately on a
standalone basis. In other words, i1f Sirius XM

bundles its standard package with other programming
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not subject to the statutory license, it's not

entitled to deduct any of the revenue from the
bundle and thus will have to pay SoundExchange and
its members for that non-music programming.

Tom Barry of Sirius XM will describe,
when he testifies, a much more sensible approach
that allows for Sirius XM to exclude that non-music
revenue from packaged sales while also ensuring that
SoundExchange and its members are not deprived of
their rightful share.

Second, free trials. SoundExchange
proposes that Sirius XM pay per-subscriber fee for
free trials other than those limited to 30 days; in
other wordg, beyond 30 days. As Mr. Frear of our
client will testify, chief financial officer, there
are many reasonsg why that 30-day limit, which is
taken, just engrafted, again, from interactive
license experience is totally inappropriate for
Sirius XM, which has a much more indirect
relationship with its trial subscribers and, thus,
requires more time and considerably more expénse to
convert them into paying subscribers.

Professor Shapiro in turn will show why,
if Sirius XM has determined that offering

multi-month free trials maximizes revenues in the
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long term, it is in the record industry's interest
as well to allow such free trials, rather than
discourage them with a punitive fee structure.

Third, direct license share.
SoundExchange proposes that the royalty adjustment
for directly licensed performances, which it
proposed five years ago, be capped, essentially
causing Sirius XM to pay double for a portion of its
directly licensed performances. As Mr. Barry will
testify, that proposal is nothing less than a direct
effort to punish Sirius XM for engaging in direct
licensing.

Fourth, and last, interest on
underpayments. SoundExchange proposes that the same
fee currently charged for late payments or
statements of account, 1 and a half percent per
month, be applied to underpayments or
miscalculations revealed in audits.

Mr. Barry will explain that because audit
results typically are delivered several years after
the original payment, an 18 percent per year penalty
can and will result in interest payments larger than
the actual underpayment, an unfair and unwarranted
result. Thank you, Your Honors, very much for your

time this morning.
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JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you, Mr. Rich.

Mr. Fakler?

OPENING STATEMENT ON BEHALF OF MUSIC CHOICE

MR. FAKLER: Thank you, Your Honors.
Well, I'd also like to start with a little bit of
background and context for the past part of the
proceeding. And Music Choice is a preexisting
subscription service, air quotes or no, also known
as PSS, and as we like to say "pez" because we
prefer not to hiss at each other.

Now, the PSS are unique among all the
different types of digital music services that come
before the Judges. And, in fact, the PSS story is a
bit different even in the SDARS story in the sense
that the PSS were the world's very first digital
music services and, in fact, were operating in the
marketplace at a time when there was no public
performance right for sound recordings at all.

And to give a little context for that,
ﬁor about the first 100 years of the record
industry, there was no federal copyright whatsoever
for sound recordings. That changed in 1972, but at
that point, Congress withheld a public performance
right for sound recordings. And that was done

largely to protect terrestrial radio with the view,
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Congress's view, that terrestrial radio -- those

performances were inherently promotional for the
record companies. So it was -- in this context,
there was no performance right at all, and that was
the legal landscape in which Music Choice initially
launched its business.

Now, you'll hear about the background of
Music Choice and the history of Music Choice and the
PSS from David Del Beccaro in this proceeding, but
just to go through some of the most relevant points
in that history.

As I mentioned, Music Choice launched its
service initially in 1988 to certain households in
the United States at a time when there was no
performance right for sound recordings. At that
time, Music Choice was treated the same way that its
primary competitor, terrestrial radio, was treated.

In 1991, Music Choice launched
nationwide. Come 1994, Music Choice was the first
music broadcaster to utilize an on-screen display in
connection with its broadcasts.

But then in 1995, Congress changed the
legal landscape with the Digital Performing Rights
and Sound Recordings Act, quite a mouthful, and at

that time, Congress granted a very limited
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performance right to sound recordings. It was

limited in a couple of ways.

First of all, it was limited only to
digital performances, so analog performances by
terrestrial radio and other sorts of entities that
were making performances of sound recordings would
still not be subject to the performance right.

But it was limited in another important
way, which was the creation of the wonderful Section
114 performance license that Your Honors have to
deal with from time to time.

Now, one of the express reasons that
Congress had for limiting the digital performance
right by creating this compulsory license, one of
the reasons, was to protect the few existing market
participants such as Music Choice that were already
in the market making these performances. And to
that end, they established a rate-setting standard
under 801 (b) that was based on policy objectives,
not based on a marketplace standard.

And also in creating this compulsory
license, Congress was careful to distinguish between
non-interactive radio-type services, which it viewed
as largely promotional for record companies --

distinguish those from on-demand interactive
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services, which it viewed as likely substitutional.

And those Services, of course, are not -- cannot
take advantage of the statutory license.

Now, in 1996, Music Choice became the
first broadcaster to multi-cast its channels to its
subscribers over the Internet. Then in 1997, after
the finish of the very first rate proceeding by the
CARP under the Section 114 license, the CARP report
was issued, and the CARP had initially set the rate
for the PSS at 5 percent of revenue.

In the next year, that decision was
appealed to the Librarian of Congress, and the
Librarian raised the rate up to 6.5 percent.

In 1998, Congress passed the DMCA. And
this was -- in this legislation, the PSS designation
was first created. Because Congress had decided
that for later market entrants, it wanted to change
the rate setting standard to a marketplace willing
buyer/willing seller standard, but at the same time
in recognition of the business expectancies and
fairness issues related to the Services that were
already in the marketplace, it created the PSS
designation and grandfathered the PSS under the
policy-based 801 (b) standard.

Also in 1998, the Librarian's
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determination was appealed up to the D.C. Circuit.
The D.C. Circuit upheld that rate decision and kept
the rate at 6.5 percent.

And as time went on, Music Choice in 2003
launched the very first video on-demand service
through cable to its subscribers. And when the next
rate period came up, there was a settlement between
the record companies and the PSS which led to a
slight rate increase to 7.0 percent and, in later
years in that term, 7.25 percent.

And in the very next rate period, there
was a settlement during the SDARS I proceeding that
kept the rate at 7.25 for the first four years, and
in the final year, it raised it to 7.5. And then of
course in the prior rate proceeding before Your
Honors, the SDARS II proceeding, the Judges raised
that rate from 7.5 to 8.5 percent of revenue.

Now, with that context and background in
mind, one of the key issues in this proceeding is
the difference between a marketplace standard and
the 801 (b) policy standard. Now, here we have the
801 (b) policy standard up on the screen, which no
doubt, especially after six weeks of Phonorecords,
Your Honors are intimately familiar with, but it's

-- it's very clear just from looking at the text of

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

64

the policy factors that this is a different thing
than a simple marketplace willing buyer/willing
gseller standard. And, in fact, it contains wvarious
policy objectives, some of which are public policy
objectives and -- and go far beyond what would be in
the calculus of the typical profit-maximizing
marketplace transaction.

And there is -- has been significant
appellate precedent that has recognized that there's
a fundamental distinction between a marketplace
standard and the 801 (b) policy standard. And, you
know, one of the key differences is, you know, how
the Judges are tasked and the flexibility that the
Judges have in setting the rates.

The D.C. Circuit in an earlier -- long
before there was PSS, under the 801 (b) policy
standard, recognized that because the Judges are
implementing policy objectives, they're not bound to
a rigid mathematical derivation in determining what
the rates should be.

Now, Sirius XM has a very --
SoundExchange, sorry about that, fellows --
SoundExchange has a very different view of the
distinction between 801 (b) and a marketplace rate.

Their view is that the two things are the same. But
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this premise has been rejected at the appellate

level in prior proceedings. And, in fact, the issue
was addressed head-on in the very first PSS
proceeding.

On appeal to the Librarian of Congress,
when RIAA made essentially the same document that
SoundExchange is making in this case, that there's
really no difference between a marketplace rate and
the 801 (b) policy factors, the Librarian flatly
rejected that, stating that a statutory rate under
the policy factors need not mirror a freely
negotiated marketplace rate and it rarely does,
because it's a mechanism whereby Congress implements
policy considerations which are not normally part of
the calculus of a marketplace rate.

And when that decision was appealed up to
the D.C. Circuit, the D.C. Circuit also rejected
this argument that the 801 (b) policy factors are
essentially the same as a marketplace rate.

They noted that, you know, the two --
they repeated the idea that a marketplace rate may
not be reasonable under the policy factors and vice
versa. And the D.C. Circuit specifically noted that
-- because at that time Congress had already worked

through the DMCA, and the D.C. Circuit said, well,
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look, obviously, they're different because Congress

just created a marketplace, Congress certainly knows
when it wants to implement a marketplace rate, it
knows what language to use, and they just did it,
and by the way, when they did it, they expressly
grandfathered the PSS that are before us right now
and kept them under the policy factors. So it would
be inconsistent with that legislative intent to just
deem the 801 (b) policy factors to be the same as a
marketplace rate.

Of course, the Judges do have to have
some methodology for making a decision, even though
they have a tremendous amount of flexibility under
the 801 (b) policy standards, and there are a few
different types of methodologies that are available
to the Judges.

Of course, in order to evaluate a rate
under the 801 (b) policy factors, you do have to have
a starting point against which to measure the policy
factors. And there are a few different
methodologies for coming to that starting point.

One is benchmarking. And certainly the
Judges in past rate proceedings have used
marketplace benchmarks as a starting point for

evaluation of the policy factors. They typically --
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these are, as I said, marketplace benchmarks, but

there are -- there are a lot of problems with
benchmarking in these proceedings, as Your Honors
have encountered in other proceedings, especially
when you're dealing with markets that have always
been regulated for the entirety of their existence.

But those problems with marketplace
benchmarkings are particularly pronounced with
respect to the -- the PSS. In fact, in every
instance other than the very first PSS proceeding,
the Judges have rejected every proposed marketplace
benchmark that has come before them. 1In the very
first PSS rate proceeding, the Librarian of Congress
and the CARP, and as upheld on appeal in the D.C.
Circuit, used the PRO licenses, the performance
licenses that the PSS had for musical compositions
as a marketplace benchmark.

Ever since that first proceeding, later
CARP's and it later proceedings by the Judges have
rejected that particular benchmark. But they've
also rejected every other marketplace benchmark that
has been presented to them with respect to the PSS.

And as was laid out in detail in the
SDARS II decision, that is because the PSS are very

unigque in a -- in a wide variety of ways from other
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Services that are out in the marketplace. They have

a very different business model, they have a
different -- very different demand structure. So,
essentially, trying to use marketplace benchmarks is
pretty much hopeless for the PSS.

Second possible methodology would be
using economic modeling. If you don't have a
marketplace benchmark, there are bargaining models
that can be used to estimate what the hypothetical
negotiation in a competitive marketplace would look
like.

And a third methodology is starting with
the existing rate. Certainly, the Judges in the
past when they have not had a usable benchmark to
work with, if there is an existing rate, have taken
that existing rate and then analyzed it pursuant to
the factors, particularly to see, for example, if
any facts in the marketplace relevant to those
factors have changed since the last time the rate
was set.

Now, that leads us to the parties' rate
proposals in this case. As for Music Choice, in
light of the lack of usable marketplace benchmarks,
Music Choice has presented evidence along the lines

of the second two methodologies, economic models and
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the existing rate.

And with respect to the economic models,
you'll hear from Professor Gregory Crawford.
Professor Crawford is a chaired professor of applied
microeconomics at the University of Zurich. He is
extremely experienced in connection with the
satellite and cable television industries. He's
also extremely experienced in applying bargaining
models. He has appeared before the Copyright
Royalty Judges in both rate-setting and royalty
distribution proceedings.

Professor Crawford has utilized the
asymmetric Nash Bargaining solution to -- to develop
a model for a hypothetical negotiation in a
competitive marketplace between one record company
and one PSS. And, in particular, a PSS operating as
a standalone PSS business.

This feature of his model is extremely
important because, as Professor Crawford
demonstrates, setting a rate for the PSS that would
require the PSS to subsidize that business from
profits from other business lines would be
inconsistent with the policy factors, the
legislative intent that I discussed before in even

creating the PSS status, as well as various other

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

70

economic and public policy interests.

Professor Crawford then uses actual data
from Music Choice to calculate what the joint
agreement profit would be from this hypothetical
negotiation. He then calculates the threat points
for the different negotiating parties and uses a
range of potential relative bargaining power ratios
that one would expect to see in a competitive
marketplace to generate a range of reason of likely
marketplace outcomes for the royalty rate. And that
range from Professor Crawford runs from 3.5 to
5.6 percent of revenue.

Professor Crawford then will analyze the
801 (b) policy factors and demonstrate that those
factors indicate that the rate should be set lower
than the highest point in that range, making Music
Choice's proposal of 5.6 percent of revenue
conservative.

In addition to the Nash model, Music
Choice will also present evidence from David Del
Beccaro, the president, CEO, and founder of Music
Choice, with respect to both the history of Music
Choice and all of the other PSS and the rate-setting
history that we discussed before, but he'll also

discuss the existing rate, the impact of that
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existing rate on Music Choice, and the projected

impact of that rate if it were carried forward into
the next rate period.

Now, in SDARS II, the Judges, as I
mentioned before, having found no usable benchmark,
took the then existing rate of 7.5 percent and
analyzed that against the four policy factors. And
the Judges found that the 7.5 percent rate, in fact,
did further all of the four policy objectives,
except for one point.

At the time of the SDARS II proceeding,
Music Choice had been planning on expanding its
channels from 50 to 300. Now, no participant in
that proceeding suggested that that planned channel
increase should lead to a rate increase, but the
Judges thought that it did. And so the Judges used
that one fact as the reason for increasing the rate
from 7.5 to 8.5 percent of revenue.

Now, in this proceeding, even
SoundExchange's expert, Dr. Wazzan, acknowledges
that there's no reason that just a rate increase --
I mean, a channel increase like that should lead to
a rate increase.

Certainly, Music Choice subscribers can

only listen to one channel at a time. There's no

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

reason to believe that the additional channels will

even necessarily lead to more performances. B2And, in
any event, if greater value were to be created by
the additional channels, one would expect that wvalue
to be captured by a percentage-of-revenue royalty
rate.

But perhaps more importantly than all of
that, as it turxns out, Music Choice never expanded
those channels for a number of reasons, including
the rate increase, the impact of the rate increase.
Music Choice abandoned those plans and now still
has -- I think at the time of SDARS II, they had 47
channels on the television; now they have 50, with
an additional 25 only made available through the
streaming.

So as -- as Mr. Del Beccaro will testify,
essentially Music Choice has been overpaying for the
past five years because of the rate increase that
was based on a prediction of something that never
came to pass.

He will testify that, you know, between
that overpayment and changes in Music Choice's
market, the downstream MVPD market, that are
relevant to all of the statutory factors, lead to

justification for -- well, first of all, as a
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starting point, 1f the Judges were to use the
existing rate as a starting point, at the very least
that rate should be the 7.5 percent rate that was
originally considered to further policy factors in
the absence of the channel increase that never
happened. But in light of recent developments in
the MVPD market, Mr. Del Beccaro also demonstrates
that the rate should be lowered even further than
that, justifying the decrease to 5.6 percent.

You will also hear from Damon Williams,
the senior VP of programming strategy and
partnerships for Music Choice, who has over 30 years
of radio programming and promotion experience. He
will demonstrate the strong promotional impact that
Music Choice continues to have for the record
companies.

He'll also show that the testimony from
the inevitable record company lawyer witnesses that
SoundExchange always puts on in these proceedings,
who conclusorily state their own opinion that they
don't think Music Choice has any promotional impact
and may even be substitutional, that that testimony
is completely belied by the conduct and the
communications from the actual marketing people at

the record companies, who continuously lobby Music
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Choice, asking them to play their music,

specifically for the purpose of helping them sell
records and also increase streaming revenues.

Now, as for SoundExchange's proposal,
SoundExchange acknowledges that there are no usable
marketplace benchmarks. SoundExchange does not
attempt to use an economic model to set the rate.
SoundExchange, through Dr. Wazzan, argues that the
Judges should not use the existing rate as a
starting point for this analysis.

Dr. Wazzan has two basic reasons for
arguing against it. The first is that he complains
that, all the way back in the very first rate
proceeding, the Librarian and the CARP used the PRO
licenses that I discussed before as a starting
point, as a marketplace benchmark, and because the
Judges later moved away from that benchmark, he
says, the first rate was, therefore, completely
invalid.

I do not think that that is a
particularly good argument. The Judges -- you did
use the PRO license as a benchmark, but that usage
was upheld by the D.C. Circuit. Now, the Judges may
have moved away from that in later proceedings,

because they felt they had better -- better
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methodologies to use, but that doesn't invalidate

the original rate.

The second reason that Dr. Wazzan gives
for not using the existing rate is also in earlier
rate periods leading up to the current rate, there
were a couple of periods where there were
settlements pursuant to which the rates were set.
And Dr. Wazzan testifies that such settlements are
inherently unreliable as predictors of marketplace
value.

He gives a number of reasons for that,
one of which is that a settlement -- involved in a
settlement is always the savings of litigation
costs, both -- both hard costs and soft costs
related to litigation. He also notes that in a
settlement litigation, oftentimes the parties' own
estimates of the trxue value of the royalty or the
claim is suspect. And he gives a whole laundry list
of problems with settlement agreements as
benchmarks.

Now, one problem with both of these
arguments is that in SDARS II, the Judges did not
just blindly roll over the existing rate. The
Judges took the existing rate and then worked

through the policy factors and independently
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it satisfied the policy factors.

So none of these -- from -- issues
relating to earlier rate periods really applied to
the Judges' rate-setting of the existing rate.

So what methodology does SoundExchange
use? Well, it purports to us a benchmarking
methodology, but it can't use a marketplace rate
because it acknowledges there aren't any. Instead
SoundExchange uses as its sole benchmark the
statutory rates applicable to new subscription
services providing their éervices through cable and
satellite television, known as the CABSAT services.

Now, Dr. Wazzan acknowledges that the
CABSAT rates and terms are not the product of a
marketplace transaction, but he argues that it's
nonetheless a reliable predictor of marketplace
outcomes because, in his view, it was set by the
Judges with the Judges applying the willing
buyer/willing seller marketplace standard. And he
states this clearly in his written rebuttal
testimony, even in paragraph 19.

The problem with this key assumption is
it's just flat wrong. The CABSAT rates have never

once been set by the Judges. They have never once
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been set pursuant to the willing buyer/willing
seller standard. In fact, they have always been set
by settlement agreements. And the current CABSAT
rates were set by a settlement agreement between
only two parties, SoundExchange representing the
entire record industry, on one side, and Sirius XM.

Now, Sirius XM is not really in the
CABSAT business. They're in the satellite radio
business. And as far as their CABSAT operations are
concerned, they only have one affiliate, Dish
Network, and they use it as a promotional vehicle
for their real business line, satellite radio.

The revenues that -- that Sirius XM gets
from its CABSAT service are a tiny fraction of
a percent of their overall revenues. They are just
not material to their business overall.

So Sirius XM had no incentive to
seriously negotiate a marketplace rate in that
settlement. And as Dr. Crawford demonstrates, the
hard litigation costs alone were likely to exceed
any potential benefit Sirius XM could have gotten
out of that rate proceeding. And, certainly, the
litigation savings were part of the value baked into
that deal, as were the promotional impact on its

satellite service.
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Dr. Wazzan made no effort to analyze the

settlement or to try to unbundle these various other
factors that led to those rates and terms, and he
did it because at the time that he submitted his
written -- written direct and rebuttal testimony, he
was not even aware that those rates were the product
of a settlement.

But it gets worse when you see the
settlement agreement itself. And we almost didn't
see the settlement agreement, because SoundExchange
refused to produce it in discovery. Music Choice
had to make a motion to compel, which thankfully the
Judges granted.

And what did we see when we finally got
the agreement? Well, the CABSAT settlement
agreement has specific acknowledgment by the parties
that the rates were set based on factors other than
marketplace factors. And even worse it has an
express prohibition on the CABSAT rates and terms
coming from this settlement ever being used as a
benchmark in future rate proceedings.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Can I interrupt you for
a second?

MR. FAKLER: Yes.

JUDGE STRICKLER: You say not to be used
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as a benchmark, and I know this is the subject of a

pending motion before us, but the -- just as you

have on the demonstrative right now, the settlement

says such royalty rates and terms shall not be

relied upon as a precedent or as precedent.

MR. FAKLER: Right.

JUDGE STRICKLER: It doesn't say as
benchmark or as evidence. It says it shall not be
relied upon as precedent. So are you -- are you
arguing that precedent and benchmark are synonymous?

MR. FAKLER: They are. And that's the
way those terms have always been used in these
settlement negotiations. And, in fact, if you look
at the correspondence leading to the settlement on
this very point, because this was one of the few
provisions of the settlement agreement that was
actually even negotiated by the parties, because
SoundExchange initially tried to broaden it so it
would only apply to prevent its use as a benchmark
by the parties signing the agreement. But in that
negotiating history, you see they're clearly
saying -- you know, Sirius XM says, look, if you're
not -- if we're going to agree these can't be used
in future proceedings, they can't be used in any

way .
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And, of course, there's no real way other

than as a benchmark that one would use settlement
rates and terms like this in a rate proceeding.
But, yes, we believe that the terms are synonymous.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

MR. FAKLER: Now, this language that
you're looking at does not differentiate between the
rates and terms in the settlement agreement as
something different than the rates and terms as they
will ultimately be implemented by the Judges after
the settlement is submitted.

That's, you know, kind of a crazy
distinction. The parties were well aware when they
entered into this agreement and when they submit it
to the Judges that because SoundExchange and Sirius
XM were the only two participants in that
proceeding, the Judges have no statutory authority
to review the resulting rates and terms for whether
they were reasonable, whether they satisfied the
willing buyer/willing seller standard. They just
didn't have that authority.

And, in fact, in the -- the motion that's
attached to the settlement agreement that was --
presenting the settlement agreement to the Judges,

it specifically tells the Judges, by the way,
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because we're the only two parties, you have to
implement these rates and terms.

So the notion that the parties
negotiating this had some thought that they wouldn't
be -- the rates and terms wouldn't be adopted and
there was this whole distinction, it's nowhere to be
found in the language, and it's nowhere to be found
-- it doesn't make a whole lot of sense.

In fact, even in this language, it says
such royalty rates and terms shall be subject to de
novo review and consideration in future proceedings.

Well, that provision makes no sense if
you were just talking about these temporary
settlement terms that are just a product of a
settlement agreement. Clearly, they're talking
about the CABSAT rates and terms that will be set as
the only reason for entering into the settlement
agreement.

Now, Dr. Wazzan is also dead wrong on his
801 (b) policy factor analysis. He claims that the
first three policy factors are inherently baked into
every marketplace rate and, therefore, you can just
assume them away. And then if you look as his
fourth factor analysis carefully, he also says the

fourth factor is inherently included in a
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marketplace rate.

So according to Dr. Wazzan, as long as
you start with a marketplace benchmark for a
comparable service, you can just assume away the
801 (b) policy factors and not worry about them.

There are a couple of problems with this
approach. First of all, even Dr. Wazzan
acknowledges that the CABSAT rates are not a
marketplace benchmark, so even if his general
principle were correct, it wouldn't be applicable to
his benchmark. But he's not right on the general
principle.

As discussed before the appellate
precedent clearly states that the two are different
and, in fact, that the 801 (b) policy factors would
not typically be taken into account in a marketplace
rate.

Now, in addition to seeking an effective
increase in the PSS rate from 8.5 percent of revenue
to almost an effective 40 percent of revenue,
SoundExchange also asks the Judges to require the
PSS to pay separate and additional rates for these
ancillary streaming to its cable -- its cable
customers.

Now, SoundExchange's only basis to
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support this part of its proposal is still the

CABSAT regs and this CABSAT settlement. They don't
do any independent benchmarking of webcasting or
anything else. They basically just say that under
the CABSAT regs, if the CABSAT does this streaming,
they're supposed to pay these separate royalties,
so, therefore, if you buy the premise, you buy the
picture, as they say in Hollywood, so you should
just, you know, do the same thing as you do for the
CABSAT.

Well, obviously, that argument should be
rejected for the same reason that their primary rate
argument should be rejected. The CABSAT settlement
rate -- the settlement rates and terms should not be
used in this proceeding as a benchmark.

But it's even worse with respect to the
webcasting issue because Sirius XM does not offer
bundled streaming to its CABSAT subscribers at all.
So it had even less incentive to negotiate this
provision of the terms than it had with respect to
the rate.

Second, Music Choice, as I mentioned
before, has been providing these web streams since
1996. Now, SoundExchange and its predecessor RIAA

were well aware of this. We've gone through
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essentially every rate-setting proceeding ever for

the PSS, a couple of settlements, even an audit of
Music Choice's PSS service, and during all that
time, SoundExchange never once took the position
that Music Choice had to pay these extra fees.

The fact of the matter is this ancillary
gstreaming to its cable subscribers has always been
included within the PSS rate.

And if we can go restricted on this last
slide. If you want to take a look at the -- what
the difference is between the parties' proposals in
this proceeding, here's a graph of where the rates
have been set during the period of Music Choice's
operation. So you have the initial period where
there was no royalty and starting at 5 and 6.5 with
these slight increases.

Music Choice is proposing a small
decreage in the rate to 5.6 percent; whereas
SoundExchange is asking for a massive, massive rate
increase.

Now, with respect to the terms just very
briefly, the PSS regulations are the oldest Section
114 regulations. They were the very first ones set.
They had the very first rate proceeding. They've

been in place for decades. There has never been any
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problem created for either party with respect to
these regs, and SoundExchange doesn't identify any
particular problem they've had with the PSS regs.
They did the same thing in SDARS II where they came
in asking for a wholesale rewrite, but they didn't
support these requests with any legitimate
justifications.

The Judges rejected those changes last
time. They should reject them again with one
exception. Music Choice has pointed out there
appears to have been some sort of issue.

In SDARS II, the parties had stipulated
to the way that the minimum fee was going to be
approached. And the parties stipulated that the
minimum fee would be set, and it could be recouped
from the overall payment, the combined 114/112
payment. Somehow when that reg got implemented, the
reference to 114 dropped out.

So, technically, the effect is that now
the minimum guarantee up-front payment only gets
recouped against that tiny fraction of the payment
attributable to 112. And Music Choice would submit
that's not fair, there's no real reason for it, it's
not what the parties agreed to, and that that should

be fixed in this rate proceeding.
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Thank you, Your Honors.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you, Mr. Fakler.

We're going to take our morning recess,
and then we will go past noon, Mr. Handzo and
Mr. Johnson, so that we can finish you all in one
session.

(A recess was taken at 10:54 a.m., after which
the hearing resumed at 11:20 a.m.)

JUDGE BARNETT: Good morning. Please be
seated.

Sorry for the delay. We had some
logistics to deal with. Mr. Handzo?

MR. ﬁANDZO: Thank you, Your Honor.

OPENING STATEMENT ON BEHALF OF SOUNDEXCHANGE

MR. HANDZO: Good morning, again. Again,
for the record, I'm David Handzo appearing on behalf
of SoundExchange.

SoundExchange's rate proposal in this
case asks the Judges to set rates at the greater of
$2.48 per subscriber or 23 percent of Sirius XM's
revenues.

Now, as Mr. Rich observed, this is not
our first SDARS rodeo. It's the third one. And
this case is very different from the prior two in at

least one obvious respect. And can I go restricted
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now? Thank vyou.

JUDGE BARNETT: Do you want to close the
courtroom or are you just restricting the --

MR. HANDZO: Oh, no, I'm sorry. I -- as
did Mr. Rich, I'm going to keep my oral presentation
unrestricted and put restricted information on the
slides.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

MR. HANDZO: So the slides you have in
front of you now shows where Sirius XM was at the
time of the SDARS I case, the SDARS II case, now,
and where we expect it to be at the end of this rate
term, both in terms -- in terms of revenues, in
terms of free cash flow, and in terms of EBITDA.

And as you can see, the numbers are dramatically up
across time.

Now -- and I'm going to stay restricted
for these next slides, thank you.

Compared to other companies that Sirius
XM considers its competitors, it is financially the
most successful service out there. Sirius XM itself
says so. It's the largest company in the radio
space by revenue, among the best margins in media,
and the best free cash flow conversion out there.

Compared to the record companies, Sirius
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XM's success is also striking. This slide shows you

that in 2015 Sirius XM's revenues almost equaled the
wholesale revenue of the entire recording industry.

And with respect to Sirius -- excuse me,
with respect to Sirius XM's margins that it earns on
those revenues, they're more than double the average
margins of the major record companies. Make no
mistake, it is music that powers those profits.

And here, again, this comes out of Sirius
XM's mouth. The slide that you're looking at are
quotes from a survey research commissioned by Sirius
XM for its own internal business purposes. And as
you can see, it shows the great importance of music
to Sirius XM's business and creating those profits
that you just saw.

And, yet, when we look at marketplace
agreements, Sirius XM pays the lowest royalties of
subscription services as a percentage-of-revenue and
by a long shot. The two bars on the left that
you're looking at show the percentage-of-revenue
rate paid by the two biggest interactive services,
Spotify and Apple. The next two bars are the
percentage-of-revenue rates paid by Pandora and
iHeart for their so-called Radio Plus services.

These are streaming services that are not on-demand
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but have some additional functionality beyond, for
example, the Pandora I service that you became
familiar with in Web IV.

JUDGE BARNETT: Mr. Handzo, does this
Sirius bar represent all in, that is, any kind of
music royalty that Sirius XM pays?

MR. HANDZO: Well, this -- this
represents the current statutory rate. So it's
11 percent, but what I would say is since -- one of
the ways you could look at this is if you assume
that none of music content generates 50 percent of
Sirius XM's revenues, then the way you might sort of
adjust this is to say that the 11 percent is really
sort of akin to 22 perxcent, if you were applying it
just against the music-generated content-generated
revenues.

But even if you double it, you're still
looking at half of what Sirius XM's competitors are
paying.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you.

JUDGE FEDER: Again, the bars, the one,
two, three, four bars on the left, does that
represent just the share that goes for sound
recording royalties or is that all music royalties

including performance royalties, mechanicals to the
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MR. HANDZO: No, those -- I'm sorry,
those are the sound recording royalties.

JUDGE FEDER: Thank you.

MR. HANDZO: SoundExchange submits that
the rate should increase substantially to be more
consistent with what we're seeing in the
marketplace.

And given Sirius XM's present financial
condition and projected performance, no reduction
below that should be appropriate under the 801
factors.

Now, Sirius XM in this case says that the
rates should actually go down, despite the
undeniable marketplace reality that it makes more
and pays less than the competition.

We can unrestrict now. Thank you.

So this is just an outline of where I'm
going to go in the rest of -- of my opening. I'm
going to walk through the analysis that each side
presents and then talk about the 801 objectives,
terms, and the PSS.

Now, SoundExchange in this case is going
to present two methods for determining reasonable

rates. First, you'll hear from John Orszag, a
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senior managing director of Compass Lexecon. And
Mr. Orszag will present a benchmark analysis based
on license agreements between the record labels and
interactive streaming services.

And then later you will hear from
Professor Robert Willig, who will offer a more
policy-oriented perspective based on Ramsey pricing
principles and also a Nash Bargaining solution.

The interactive services benchmark that
Mr. Orszag is going to present is one that I'm going
to talk about first, and the Judges are familiar
with that one because you considered it at length in
Web IV. And it has also been adopted by the Judges
and used by the Judges to set rates in Web I and --
I'm sorry, Web II and SDARS I, as these quotes from
those cases show.

So I think the first thing to talk about
with the interactive services benchmark is, is it
appropriate for this case? As I said, it wasn't
used in SDARS I. It was considered at length in Web
IV. And in Web IV, the Judges laid out some
criteria that the -- well, I should say conditiomns
that needed to be met if the interactive services
benchmark was going to be used. And I put these

three conditions here.
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The first, of course, both the target
market and the benchmark market are
subscription-based, so there is a willingness to pay
by consumers. Second, that there is functional
convergence and downstream competition for
listeners, which indicates a high cross elasticity
of demand. And, third and finally, a steering
adjustment is made.

And I think the evidence is going to show
you that SoundExchange can check each of those boxes
in this case. Now, obviously, with respect to the
first one, Sirius XM is a subscription service. And
its subscribers apparently have the highest
willingness to pay in the marketplace. Sirius XM
calculates that its average revenue per user is
$12.80, and overwhelmingly that comes from
subscriptions.

Now, with respect to the second
requirement that the Judges laid out in Web IV, that
is, functional convergence, you're going to hear a
lot of evidence about that. But for right now, I'm
going to content myself with quoting Sirius XM's own
words back to it.

This slide comes from pleadings that

Siriusg XM filed in a lawsuit recently. One of
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Sirius XM's former programmers for its country
channels jumped to Spotify and began programming
Spotify country playlists. And in papers filed with
the Court, Sirius XM told the Court that Spotify is
not only a direct competitor, it is indeed one of
Sirius XM's key direct competitors.

There will be a lot of other evidence,
but that's a pretty clear indication that we have
functional convergence and downstream competition.

So we've met the first two requirements.
We have a subscription service whose users have a
high willingness to pay. And we have functional
convergence, downstream competition. So the last
item is a steering adjustment.

And with respect to a steering
adjustment, SoundExchange's proposed rates that I
showed you in that first slide incorporate a
14 percent adjustment. Now, we believe that the
evidence is going to show that's too high.

Although SoundExchange's rate proposal is
still based on that 14 percent adjustment,

Mr. Orszag has calculated rates with three other
potential steering adjustments. One is the
12 percent adjustment that the Judges adopted in Web

IV. Then there's a smaller adjustment, which comes

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

94

from the difference between the Sirius XM direct
licenses and the current statutory rates, adjusted
to account for the fact that the direct licenses
don't pay a SoundExchange administrative fee.

And then, last, Mr. Orszag has calculated
the benchmark rates without a steering adjustment,
because we believe the evidence will show that a
steering adjustment is really not required at this
point and the market in interactive services is
sufficiently competitive.

Now, in support of that last proposition,
SoundExchange will present the testimony of
Dr. David Blackburn. Now, I -- I can assure you
that we are highly aware of the Court's ruling in
Web IV and its views on effective competition in the
interactive marketplace. But there is some new
evidence and two things in particular that I do want
to highlight for you.

First, the Judges in Web IV noted that
SoundExchange at least implied that record company
marging were low and that's inconsistent with having
monopoly or complementary oligopoly power. But the
Court pointed out that SoundExchange had not
actually put into evidence the record company

margins, so you will hear that evidence in this case
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coming from Mr. Blackburn -- I'm sorry, that

actually should be restricted.

A little too fast on the clicker there.

Now I can show it to you. And as I think
you can see, the margins that -- that are being
earned here are hardly exorbitant and inconsistent
with monopoly power.

The second piece of evidence that you
will have that's new -- and now I can go
unrestricted -- is that there have been two new
entrants into the interactive streaming services
market, Pandora and iHeart. Both signed licenses in
late 2016 allowing them to offer on-demand streaming
service and both now do.

And I think Dr. Blackburn is going to
testify that one would not expect new market
entrants and market growth in an already competitive
market if those new market entrants had to vay
monopoly rates.

And, more generally, Dr. Blackburn will
testify that Dr. Shapiro in his analysis has simply
ignored the countervailing bargaining power of
Spotify and Apple, which at this point in the way
the market has developed is very, very substantial.

But, in any event, as I said before,
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SoundExchange's current rate proposal, the one I

showed you at the beginning, is based on an analysis
that does include a steering adjustment. And
actually a slightly higher steering adjustment than
was used in Web IV. And so with that, we think that
the evidence will show that the interactive services
benchmark is entirely consistent and should be
applied under the Web IV principles.

Now, can we go unrestricted -- I'm sorry,
go restricted? Since the interactive benchmark is
appropriate here, that leads to a little bit of a
nuts-and-bolts description of how Mr. Orszag goes
through the benchmarking process.

Mr. Orszag and his staff examined 27
agreements between the major record companies and
interactive services. 2And you will see on the
screen that he determined the effective
per-subscriber rates that were derived from those
agreements.

Now, the Judges in the past have
expressed concern that the rates in the Majors'
agreements might not reflect the rates that
independent record labels get. So Mr. Orszag did
examine that issue as well.

And we can go unrestricted now.
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First of all, Mr. Orszag had the
testimony and you will have the testimony of
Jeremy Sirota. Mr. Orszag did two things,
bagically. The first thing he did was he looked at
what rates Indies get when they are distributed by a
Major as many Indies are.

And you'll have the testimony of
Mr. Sirota, who's a senior vice president with the
Warner-owned entity that serves as a distributor for
a gignificant number of Indies. And there will be
testimony about what rates the Indies get when they
are distributed by the Majors. And that, if you
look at what the Majors and the Indie distributed
Majors -- I'm sorry, the Indies distributed by
Majors together, that actually represents about
85 percent of the market.

And then with respect to the other
15 percent, Mr. Orszag examined or obtained
agreements between interactive services and certain
Indie distributors or trade associations that
negotiate licenseé on behalf of the Indies. And so
Mr. Orszag took all of that into account, Indies
that do not go through Majors, Indies that do go
through Majors. He took those rates into account in

doing his benchmarking analysis. So that past
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concern, we think, has been dealt with here.

Mr. Orszag, having done that, then
determined the effective royalty rate paid under the
those agreements that he looked at using the royalty
statements sent by the Services. So Mr. Orszag got
the royalty statements that the Services sent to the
record companies so it shows what the Services
actually pay to the record companies.

And he then used those actual royalty
payments to calculate how much the Services were
effectively paying on a per-subscriber basis. Once
the effective rates in the interactive market were
established, Mr. Orszag used those benchmark rates
to calculate rates for Sirius XM, and he did it in
two different ways.

The first -- well, actually, I should say
both of those approaches draw on the concept that
the Court discussed in Web IV of ratio equivalency.
That is, the ratio of consumer price to royalty rate
will be the same for Services that compete with each
other in downstream markets. And that is an
approach, as you see from this slide, that the
Judges found theoretically sound in the Web IV case.

And I should add there's now new evidence

in this case which I think will confirm that the
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Judges' view of ratio equivalency in Web IV was
correct, because one thing we have in this case,
which you did not have in Web IV, are the new direct
licenses for the Radio Plus sexrvices that I
mentioned earlier.

These are sgervices with substantially
less interactivity than on-demand services, but
functionality that also includes unlimited spins,
some replays, and so on. And there are direct
licenses for those services.

Pandora and iHeart both signed direct
licenses with Majors and Indies for those services,
and you'll see the rates in the course of this
trial. And I think what you'll see is those rates
confirm the concept of ratio equivalency.

And you'll also hear testimony from
Aaron Harrison at UMG and Jeff Walker at Sony Music,
who will testify about those agreements and other
issues related to digital licensing.

Now, using this concept of ratio
equivalency, which the Court approved and which is
now borne out in marketplace agreements, in his
first approach Mr. Orszag converted the effective
per-subscriber rate that he calculated for

interactive sexrvices into an effective percentage-of
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-- percentage-of-revenue rate for those interactive
services.

Now, using a percentage-of-revenue rate
in this approach obviates the need to separately
account for the value of interactivity. And that's
because the subscription price of a non-interactive
service will be lower than the subscription price of
an interactive service.

Because the absence of interactivity is
captured by the lower consumer subscription price
for the non-interactive service, the
percentage-of-revenue rate in the interactive market
can be applied to that lower subscription price of a
non-interactive service, resulting in a lower
royalty rate that reflects the absence of
interactivity.

In this approach, however, the issue that
Mr. Orszag had to confront was that the subscription
price for Sirius XM reflects not only the absence of
interactivity but also the presence of non-music
content that presumably contributes to the
subscription revenues.

So before Mr. Orszag could apply the
interactive service percentage-of-revenue rate to

Sirius XM's subscription price, he had to adjust for
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And to do that, he had a survey from
Stefan Boedeker, who analyzed the value of music and
non-music content to Sirius XM subscribers, and the
results of the survey show that music represents 50
to 70 percent of the value of content on Sirius XM.
Very consistent with what the Judges found in SDARS
II. Very consistent with Sirius XM's own internal
survey work.

Can we go restricted please? Thank you.

So the results of that calculation are
shown here. Basically, Mr. Orszag used the lower
end of the range from the Boedeker survey,

50 percent, with the result that he essentially cut
in half the effective percentage-of-revenue rate
that exists in the interactive market and applied
that to Sirius XM's average revenue per user.

Now, the second approach that Mr. Orszag
used also follows that ratio equivalency
methodology, accepted in Web IV. And as with the
first approach, Mr. Orszag uses the subscription
prices paid by consumers for interactive and
non-interactive streaming services as a measure of
the value that consumers place on interactivity.

So where consumers are willing to pay 10
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dollars a month for an interactive service, and
let's say 5 dollars a month for a non-interactive
service, interactivity is assumed to double the
value of the interactive service to consumers and,
therefore, to double the royalty to the record
companies.

And following that example, if
interactive services pay an effective per-subscriber
royalty of 6 dollars, you would calculate the
per-subscriber royalty rate for non-interactive
streaming services to be half of that, or 3 dollars.
So I'm giving you hypothetical numbers, but here,
and we'll stay restricted, are the actual numbers
that Mr. Orszag used.

Now, I just want to highlight the
difference between these two approaches. And it
really relates to how Mr. Orszag handled Sirius XM's
non-music content.

In the first approach, Mr. Orszag
multiplies the percentage-of-revenue rate in the
interactive market by Sirius XM's per-subscriber
revenue, which means he has to reduce that revenue
to back out the value contributed by non-music
content.

In the second approach, Mr. Orszag
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multiplies the percentage-of-revenue rate in the
interactive market, not by Sirius XM's subscriber
revenue, but by non-interactive streaming service
per-subscriber revenue.

And for those non-interactive -- because
those non-interactive services don't have the
non-music content, in that second approach,

Mr. Orszag doesn't have to specifically account for
the non-music content on Sirius XM.

So what's left after those calculations
is to apply a steering adjustment to the rates that
Mr. Orszag calculated. And that's shown in this
slide. And as I mentioned, there are -- the current
rate proposal is actually based on a higher number,
but these are the three that -- that he also uses in
his written testimony.

And can we go unrestricted now?

So I've covered the interactive services
benchmark. I now want to talk about Professor
Willig's approach looking at Ramsey pricing and a
Nash Bargaining solutiomn.

I think Professor Willig, like all of the
economists in this case, will offer an opinion that
a marketplace rate is likely to satisfy the first

three 801 objectives. But that having been said,
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standard, of course. And that being the case, it
makes sense to congider other perspectives as well.

And so Professor Willig discusses Ramsey
pricing, the efficient component pricing rule, and
he also offers a Nash Bargaining solution. Now, the
foundation for each of those approaches is a
calculation of record company opportunity costs
incurred by licensing Sirius XM.

The economists on both sides, I think,
agree that in a unregulated market, a seller is not
going to license at a rate below its opportunity
cost. But Professor Willig will testify that it's
important to consider seller opportunity cost, not
just because of those market considerations, but
also because of policy congiderations as well.

So under the statutory license, record
companies and artists are forced sellers. They are
reguired to sell. No buyer has to buy, but the
sellers have to sgell under the statutory license.

Moreover, while a buyer can always seek
to negotiate a rate below the statutory rate, the
gsellers are unlikely to ever be able to negotiate a
rate above the statutory rate. The statutory rate

sets a ceiling, not a floor. And so Professor
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Willig will testify, while buyers certainly need to
be protected from rates that are too high, the
statute is also intended to protect sellers from
rates that are too low. And the rates are surely
too low if they are below the sellers' opportunity
costs.

To the extent that people who subscribe
to Sirius XM therefore do not subscribe to other
Services that pay higher royalties -- and trust me
every other subscription out there pays higher
royalties than Sirius XM -- of course, that's an
opportunity cost to the Copyright Owners.

Now, to assess the magnitude of that
opportunity cost, SoundExchange engaged Professor
Ravi Dhar of Yale University to conduct a survey
that asks Sirius XM subscribers what they would do
if Sirius XM was not available.

And the results of the Dhar survey show
that a substantial number of Sirius XM subscribers
would buy a subscription to a non-interactive
streaming service or an interactive streaming
service, both of which pay royalty rates that are
far higher than what Sirius XM pays on a
per-subscriber basis.

Restricted, please.
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Willig determined that the opportunity cost of
licensing Sirius XM is $2.55. And, basically, as
this table shows, that number was calculated by
determining from the Dhar survey where Sirius XM
subscribers would go if they didn't have Sirius XM,
and how much the record companies earn from each of
those alternative distribution modes. And then he
weights those -- the lost revenue by how many people
would go there. And that all sums at the bottom to
the $2.55 that I mentioned before per Sirius XM
subscriber.

Now, during this trial, you are going to
hear four survey experts opine on opportunity costs.
Two on behalf of Sirius XM, and two on behalf of
SoundExchange. And I don't have time to walk
through the buy play that you're going to hear
there, but let me try and summarize it for you this
way .

As I mentioned, SoundExchange has offered
Dr. Dhar's survey as the basis for Professor
Willig's calculations. Now, in his opening case,
Sirius XM presented a survey by a gentleman by the
name of Joe Lenski. And the Lenski survey asks

Sirius XM subscribers how they would spend their
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how they would spend their money, if Sirius XM
didn't exist. We think this is a case about money,
and Joe Lenskil was asking totally the wrong
question.

Now, in rebuttal, Sirius XM has offered
the survey of Dr. Hauser, who says that he's
addressing supposed flaws in the Dhar survey. But I
think what you will get from both Mr. Lenski and
Dr. Hauser is that neither of them says that their
surveys can be used to actually calculate an
opportunity cost. "That's just not the way they
designed their surveys and not what you can do with
it. So they are simply not giving you that
evidence.

And then the last survey expert you're
going to hear from SoundExchange in rebuttal, we've
submitted a survey conducted by Professor Itamar
Simonson of Stanford.

Mr. Simonson revised and reran the Lenski
survey. And he did it, of course, to ask about how
people would spend their money, instead of how they
would spend their time. And he did it in a way that
calculates the opportunity cost. And the results of

the Simonson survey corroborate Dr. Dhar's survey.
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So, in short, Sirius XM chose to conduct

surveys that don't allow for the calculation of an
opportunity cost. SoundExchange has submitted two
surveys by highly credentialed experts that do
permit the calculation of opportunity costs, that
produce consistent results and that demonstrate that
the opportunity cost of licensing Sirius XM
substantially exceeds $2 per subscriber.

Now, building on that opportunity cost
analysis, Professor Willig does two things. First,
he calculates a Nash Bargaining solution. What
Professor Willig does is he calculates the revenue
created by licensing sound recordings, less the
variable costs associated with creating that
revenue. And then he subtracts the amount that the
recoxrd companies would earn in other markets, so the
opportunity cost, absent an agreement with Sirius
XM, and the amount that Sirius XM would earn absent
an agreement with the record companies.

So those calculations then produce the
surplus that under Nash Bargaining is available to
be divided between the parties. Standard Nash
Bargaining solution is a 50/50 split. And if you
then add back in the record companies' opportunity

costs, the resulting royalty is $3.94 per subscriber
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per month.

Professor Willig also examines Ramsey
pricing. And Ramsey pricing, as I understand it,
and Professor Willig will explain it way better,
poses this question: If you have a number of
different Services that draw on a common asset, here
sound recordings, how would you price that common
asset so that you maximize consumer welfare while
providing sufficient revenues for the creators of
the sound recordings?

And that sort of begs the question:
Well, what do we consider the sufficient revenues
for the creators of sound recordings? Professor
Willig's answer is that, as demonstrated by his
regression analysis, streaming services as a
category have cannibalized the sale of downloads.
So streaming services as a group should cover the
cost of those lost services.

But that doesn't mean that each streaming
service covers the cost in equal measure. What
Ramsey pricing says is that consumer welfare is
advanced 1f the Services that have the lowest
elasticity of demand for the sound recordings pay
the highest markup over opportunity cost or, to put

it in my layman's terms, the Service that values the
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sound recordings more because its subscribers wvalue
the Service more should pay more because that will
result in the widest distribution of sound
recordings to consumers.

Now, applying those principles, Professor
Willig calculated that the elasticity of demand for
Sirius XM is lower than that of the interactive
services. And, therefore, under Ramsey pricing,
Sirius XM would pay the higher markup over
opportunity cost.

So when all the math is done, the result
suggests a considerably higher royalty than
SoundExchange requests here. And Professor Willig
isn't suggesting that that's the rate the Judges
should set, recognizing that such a royalty might
actually be potentially disruptive, but the point is
that opportunity cost analysis and public policy
pricing perspective suggests a substantial increase
from current rates.

And as I said before, the increase that
SoundExchange proposes would be to 1lift the rates
from current rates to a greater of $2.48 per
subscriber or 23 percent of revenue.

Now, with that, I want to turn to a

discussion of Sirius XM's case and Sirius XM's
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benchmark. And the first thing I'm going to talk
about is the direct licenses that you heard a little
bit about in Sirius XM's opening. And the reality
is, and I think what the evidence is going to show
you in this case, is that the direct licenses don't
really tell us anything except maybe that the
statutory rate is too low.

I think all of the economists agree that
in order for the direct licenses to be relevant, the
Indies that sign those direct licenses and agreed to
a lower rate than the statutory rate must have done
gso in the hope of and expectation of increasing the
volume of plays. In other words, for reasons
relating -- relating to steering.

In other words, if they didn't do it for
that reason, it's just not relevant to us. They did
it for steering. Professor Shapiro is going to tell
you it's relevant, but I think he's going to agree
if the Indies didn't do it for the benefit of
steering, that that's not their reasons, then it's
really not relevant here. And you see a quote from
Professor Shapiro from his deposition.

The reality is that what happened in this
case -- and I think what you're going to hear from

the evidence -- ig that some Indies signed direct

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

112

licenses at a rate lower than the statutory rate
because Sirius XM offered those Indies offsetting
benefits, not related to steering, an advance,
payments for pre-'72 music, for example, and the
Indies did direct licenses for those reasons, not
for steering. And for that reason, the direct
licenses are uninformative.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Counsel, just a
question for you. Good morning, by the way.

MR. HANDZO: Good morning.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Will there be evidence
in your case-in-chief as to the values or estimates
of the values of these other items within the direct
licenses?

MR. HANDZO: To the extent that we can
quantify them, yes. And I'm actually going to touch
on that a little bit more in a moment.

What I can tell you, and I will get to
this in a little bit more detail, is that you will
hear from Professor Lys, who went through all of the
direct licenses or a substantial number of the
direct licenses and the negotiating history, and
will be able to tell you why the substantial
majority of those licenses were entered into and

what the benefits were that were conferred and why
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they didn't involve steering and they are higher
benefits that outweigh the reduction from the
statutory rate.

So -- but before I get there, and I will
actually talk about that in a little bit more
detail, I think the place to start to think about
this is that there is precious little evidence,
empirical evidence, of steering here.

In Web IV, you heard evidence, empirical
evidence, of the actual amount of steering that was
going on. And that was important to that case.

In this case, here's the amount of
empirically proving steering you're going to see
from Sirius XM. None. They don't have any
empirical evidence that they've actually done any
steering. There's no study like you saw in Web IV.

JUDGE STRICKLER: When you say no study,
are you referring to the Pandora experiments by way
of example or something else?

MR. HANDZO: That -- as I understand it
in Web IV, there were two things. There were those
experiments that Pandora ran, and we have that in
this case, but then there was also -- after they
entered into the Pandora/Merlin agreement, there was

some actual steering in Merlin's direction or Merlin
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CONFIDENTIAL SESSION 114:6 through 114:12
label's directions after that agreement, and that I
believe was also quantified in that case.

In this case, you have not -- none of
those things. The reality is -- can we go
restricted?

The reality is that Sirius XM does not
even suggest to labelg that it will play their sound
recordings more in response to a price reduction.
What you're seeing here is an excerpt from a
deposition. And what it shows is there really is no
promise of volume increases in response to a
decrease in price. Sirius XM just doesn't offer
that. All Sirius XM will do is tell its programmers
to take callg from direct license labels only as a
courtesy. And that's no benefit at all to the
labels who are important enough to get their calls
taken, in any event. And it's just not steering in
the way that it was presented to you and I think the
way you thought about it in Web IV.

So not only is there no empirical
evidence of actual steering going on in this case,
but the evidence is going to show that the Indies,
for the most part, had no expectation of steering
benefits. They signed for other reasons.

And now I can maybe get a little bit more
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into the question that you asked, Judge Strickler.

Professor Lys examined the direct
licenses and the negotiating history for -- on
behalf of Sirius-- I'm sorry, on behalf of
SoundExchange. And what he finds, first of all, is
that there are many direct licensors that literally
never had their music played on Sirius XM.

Now, you remember that Mr. Rich showed
you, I think, a slide that was 500 direct licenses.
Well, an awful lot of them, actually literally never
have their music played on Sirius XM, which might
suggest to a suspicious mind that Sirius XM was just
signing those direct licenses to pump up the numbers
for litigation purposes. But, in any event, those
are economically irrelevant.

What Professor Lys further finds is that
30 of the direct licensors account for an
exceedingly high percentage of the royalties paid by
Sirius XM under direct licenses. So the way
Professor Lys conducted his analysis was he looked
very closely at those 30 labels because that covers
most of the waterfront. And he'll describe a number
of the non-steering reasons why those Indies agreed
to direct licenses. And for now, I'm going to just

touch on the bigger picture ones.
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Restricted, please.

First, Sirius XM, when it pitches direct
licenses to Indieg, for many of them, offers a
method for calculating the label's share of the
royalty pool that differs from the way SoundExchange
calculates the label's share.

And this e-mail that you're looking at on
the screen was sent on behalf of Sirius XM to a
potential direct licensor pitching the benefits of
Sirius XM's methodology. And in short,
SoundExchange pays labels a share of the statutory
royalty pool based on their pro rata share of the
label's spins on Sirius XM. So every time a sound
recording is broadcast, that's one spin regardless
of how many people actually listen to it.

Sirius XM uses data from its webcasting
channels as a proxy to calculate how many people
actually listen to each spin. So Sirius XM
calculates the label's pro rata share based on the
size of the listening audience.

Now, obviously that's going to benefit
labels whose sound recordings are popular. They can
earn more royalties for each spin under Sirius XM's
methodology, even at a lower rate and even without

any steering whatsoever. And paying those labels
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more doesn't cost Sirius XM anything because it just

deducts the direct license royalties it pays from
the statutory royalty pool that it pays to
SoundkExchange.

And I think you're going to hear that
even Professor Shapiro admits that fully half of the
direct licenses that he examined benefitted from
that methodology. Again, regardless of whether
there was any steering, so for fully half of the
labels examined, you can't conclude, and I don't
think even Professor Shapiro concludes, that
steering played any motivation -- any part in the
motivation for those licenses.

So that's one really important benefit
that Sirius XM offered and that was very attractive
to a number of labels because it gave them more
royalties even without steering.

But, second, Sirius XM also emphasized to
labels that under the direct license, they receive
100 percent of the royalties; whereas under the
statutory license, SoundExchange pays 50 percent to
the label, 45 percent to the featured artist, and
5 percent to the non-featured artist. And again
you're looking at an e-mail that Sirius XM sent to

potential licensors pitching the benefit of getting
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100 percent of the royalties.

And it is a benefit for a lot of labels.
For some labels getting 100 percent of 9 percent
direct license is much better than getting
50 percent of an 11 percent statutory licemse. And
one reason for that is that labels generally are
allowed by their artist contracts to use the
royalties they collect to recoup any advances that
they pay to the artist and some of the costs
associated with the production of sound recordings.

So until a record company recoups its
costs, it's not actually obligated to pay the artist
any of the royalties that it collects. And the
reality in the industry is that actually most sound
recordings lose money, most sound recordings never
recoup.

So, obviously, a label stands a much
better chance of recouping or at least getting a lot
closer 1f it can collect all of the royalties and
use them for recoupment, instead of collecting only
half under the statutory license.

The other reason this is a benefit to a
lot of labels is that their artist contracts
actually don't have a 50/50 split for these kinds of

royalties. The split is actually a lot lower going
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to the artist under a lot of the artist contracts.

So, again, i1f the label can collect
100 percent, even 1f it's recouped, it's going to be
paying out less than 50 percent to the artist.

JUDGE BARNETT: Mr. Handzo --

MR. HANDZO: Yes.

JUDGE BARNETT: -- isn't the 100 percent
recoupment before paying the artist, isn't that an
issue of contract between each label and each
artist?

MR. HANDZO: Well, it's the way -- I
mean, I think, yes, but it's a standard way the
contracts are structured. So that is the way the
industry tends to work.

JUDGE BARNETT: But there's no guarantee
that's universal?

MR. HANDZO: There's no guarantee that
it's universal, but I think we will put into
evidence that that is the standard, that's the way
contracts tend to work.

I mean, let's face it, we weren't able to
go out and subpoena every Indie and get all of their
licenses, but -- but we do have evidence that that
is the way licenses tend -- artist contracts tend to

be structured.
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JUDGE BARNETT: Okay. I didn't mean to
ask you to testify.

MR. HANDZO: No, no. That's £fine.

JUDGE BARNETT: I -- it was curiosity.

MR. HANDZO: I -- the point I think is
that we will address your concern in the evidence
that you hear.

But in addition to that, one of the
things that Professor Lys did was he did interview
some of the direct licensed Indies. And so we have
it in that case from the horse's mouth that getting
100 percent of the artist royalties was -- I'm
sorry, 100 percent of the sound recording royalties
was important to those labels and the reason why
they did the direct license, and it has nothing to
do with steering.

Third, third reason why direct license
labels entered into the agreement without having any
regard for steering is that some direct license
labels have a significant catalogue of pre-'72 music
for which Sirius XM refused to pay any royalties.
And Sirius XM told those Indies that it would not
agree to pay royalties for pre-'72 recordings unless
the labels signed a direct license for all of its

catalogue. And you will hear testimony in this case
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from one of the largest Indies that that was why
they did a direct license and steering had nothing
to do with it.

Now, there are other factors motivating
direct licenses that had nothing to do with
steering, as you'll hear in the course of this
trial. I think I've probably talked about it enough
for now.

But the bottom line is that there are a
lot of reasons why Indies entered into direct
licenses, and steering, if it existed at all, seems
pretty close to the bottom of the list.

And so before I leave the topic of direct
licenses, I think there's one interesting question
that should be talked about a little bit. Why do we
see so little evidence of steering? Really no
steering that anybody can quantify. Why, indeed,
does Sirius XM not even offer it, not in the sense
of gteering in Web IV, where there was a direct
connection offered by Pandora between a lower-price
and more plays. That's not what Sirius XM does.

Now, everybody agrees, and the evidence
will show, that Sirius XM has the ability to steer.
Now, in Web IV, the Judges found that Pandora only

recently acquired the ability to steer, which
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explained the relatively low level of steering to

that point in that case. But Sirius XM has had the
ability to steer from the very beginning. It's just
-- they've got human programmers. It's just a
matter of telling their programmers what to play.
And Sirius XM has been entering into direct licenses
since 2010.

So the lack of steering in this case
can't be explained on the grounds that it only
recently became possible. It has always been
possible. So why aren't we seeing steering or even
a real offer of steering from an entity that plainly
has the ability?

I think the answer you'll hear in the
course of this trial is that steering only happens
when a buyer has both the ability and the economic
incentive to steer. And sellers have the economic
incentive to accept steering. And where the
statutory rate is already below the rate that would
exist in an unregulated competitive market, those
economic incentives don't exist.

So if there's a lesson from the direct
licenses, it's that in the -- it's that the current
rate, current statutory rate, is too low.

Can we go unrestricted again?
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So back to my outline here. I'll move on
to the Web IV rates. But let me just say in preface
that other than the direct licenses, Sirius XM
offers no current marketplace evidence that the
Judges can use to determine a rate in this case.
Sirius XM relies on no current marketplace
agreements, unlike SoundExchange. And unlike
SoundExchange, Sirius XM offers no survey evidence
from which opportunity costs for the record
companies can actually be determined.

So instead, for its second and third
benchmarks, Sirius XM asks the Judges to push
forward rates from past casesg, Web IV and SDARS II.

Now, Judge Barnett, at the outset of this
case in your opening remarks, you said that we're
here to determine a rate for Sirius XM. And that I
believe is -- that word "determine" is what appears
in the statute.

And we think that "determine" means
something different than "adjust rates."

"Determine" to us suggests the place to start is
looking at the current marketplace and current
marketplace evidence, not starting by going back and
looking at old rates and adjusting them. We don't

think that's what Congress had in mind or the
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appropriate way to do it.

But quite apart from that fundamental
problem with Sirius XM's second and third
benchmarks, there are a variety of reasons that will
emerge from the evidence showing why neither the Web
IV rates nor the SDARS II rates are suitable
benchmarks in this case.

And I'll start with the Web IV rates. I
think there are three fundamental problems with
Sirius XM's attempt to use the Web IV rates.

First, the marketplace has changed since
the evidence was gathered and presented in that
case. In particular, one of the agreements that the
Judges relied on to set rates for subscription
gservices was the agreement between Merlin and
Pandora. Now, that agreement expired by its own
terms on December 31, 2015. And it was extended
then by an amendment that changed certain of the
economic terms for part of 2016, and then it was
replaced entirely by a new agreement in September of
201e6.

As I mentioned before, Pandora decided to
upgrade its non-interactive subscription service,
previously known as Pandora I, and it now offers

some additional functionality in the form of
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unlimited skips and limited replay ability. So what

was then Pandora I is now Pandora Plus. And Pandora
signed an agreement with Merlin for that Pandora
Plus service. The terms are very different from the
agreement that you have in front of you in Web IV.

So given that one of the benchmarks that
the Judges relied on in Web IV no longer exists,
uncritically taking the Web IV rates and applying
them without reanalysis, we would submit, is risky
business.

And Sirius XM certainly offers no such
analysis or in any way considers how changes in the
marketplace would have impacted the Web IV
determination.

The second problem is that, as you know,
the Judges in Web IV established rates on a
per-performance basis. Now, attempting to apply Web
IV rates to Sirius XM causes a problem right out of
the box because Sirius XM cannot measure
performances.

Sirius XM knows how many times it
broadcasts a particular sound recording, but it
doesn't know how many people listen to each
broadcast. So it can't actually measure

performances.
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And, as a result, Professor Shapiro had

to resort to a survey to estimate the average number
of performances per subscriber per month on Sirius
XM. That introduces a level of uncertainty right
out of the box, but leaving that aside, there's a
more fundamental problem with Professor Shapiro's
approach.

Professor Shapiro assumes that the total
royalties paid by a Service are mathematically
determined by the number of performances per
subscriber on the Service, rather than the revenue
generated by the Service for those subscribers.

And -- and that follows because Professor
Shapiro simply takes the Web IV per-play rate,
multiplies it times his estimate of -- of the number
of performances per subscriber on Sirius XM, without
any consideration whatsoever given to how much
revenue Sirius XM actually earns from those plays.

That assumption is contrary to precedent
in these cases and also contrary to marketplace
reality. For example, in Web IV, the Judges set
different rates for ad-supported services and
subscription services. And the reason for that was
not that the ad-supported services have fewer

performances per listener compared to subscription
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services. The reason was that listeners to
ad-gsupported services have a lower willingness to
pay. And so royalties earned by the record labels
will reflect that lower willingness to pay for an
ad-supported service.

Can we restrict?

Now, I think the Judges recognized that
connection in the Web IV decision in the quote that
I've got here, but, in addition, as Mr. Orszag is
going to testify, in the marketplace for
subscription services, royalties are determined
based on revenues generated, not based on the number
of performances.

And Mr. Orszag will testify, for example,
that a majority of licenses for subscription
streaming services don't even have per-play rates in
them. In agreements negotiated since 2014, almost
none of them do. Instead, royalties are based on a
percentage-of-revenue or per-subscriber rate. In
other words, in the unregulated market, the overall
royalty payments to the record companies are linked
to the revenues of the service, not to the number of
performances on the service.

And, again, contrary to that marketplace

reality, Professor Shapiro's Web IV approach just
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ignores revenue, ignores willingness to pay, and

focuses only on the number of performances.

There's a reason why Professor Shapiro
does that. That approach works to Sirius XM's
advantage. Sirius XM is a service that subscribers
listen to mostly in the car. And since most folks
don't spend all of their day in the car, the number
of performances per subscriber appears to be lower
than the comparable number for Pandora, for example.

But that doesn't mean that the sound
recordings are any less productive in generating
revenue for Sirius XM. If you look at Sirius XM's
subscription prices and average revenue per user,
Sirius XM is earning considerably more than Pandora
and other competitors. And the survey evidence
tells us that music is principally responsible for
that revenue.

So what Professor Shapiro's approach does
is it tiltes the playing field in Sirius XM's favor
because on a per-subscriber basis, if you accepted
his proposal, Sirius XM would pay substantially less
than competitors like Pandora on a per-subscriber
basis, even as it earns more revenue per subscriber.

In any event, as both Mr. Orszag and

Professor Willig will explain, mechanically just
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to Sirius XM is a serious mistake.

Now, on to problem 3, with Professor
Shapiro's Web IV approach, and this is what I'm
going to call the contract rate versus effective
rate issue. BAnd I think you heard Mr. Rich allude
to it in his opening statement.

As I mentioned at the outset, one of the
two benchmarks used in Web IV was the now defunct
Pandora/Merlin agreement, and the other benchmark
used was major label agreements with interactive
services.

Now, Professor Shapiro contends that the
interactive benchmark approach used by the Judges in
Web IV relied on headliner or contract rates, rather
than the effective rate. In other words, as I
understand what Professor Shapiro is saying, his
theory ig that the interactive services' benchmark
analysis in Web IV was based and necessarily must be
based on the contractual per-play rate stated in the
contract, regardless of whether the Services
actually pay those per-play rates.

We disagree. First of all, my reading of
the Web IV decision suggests to me that the Judges

understood that they were using effective rates, at
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conscious decision by the Judges to rely on contract
rates in preference to effective rates.

But regardless of what was done in Web
IV, Mr. Orszag and Dr. Willig will testify that the
benchmarking analysis should be conducted based on
effective rates. And we can unrestrict.

And we think that approach is consistent
with the Judges' views in the past that the analysis
should reflect the true economic value of the
agreements that are used as a benchmark, and that
means looking at effective rates if those effective
rates differ from the headline rates.

And that's exactly what Mr. Orszag did in
this case. He calculated the effective rate paid by
the interactive services under those agreements.

And he did that, as I said before, by using the
actual royalties paid by the Services to the record
companies, seeing what was actually paid, and then
converting that into an effective per-subscriber
rate.

Now, it appears that those effective
rates today yield a somewhat higher number than Web
IV, but that's what happens when you look at current

marketplace agreements and not at marketplace
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evidence from multiple years ago.

And as Professor Willig and Mr. Orszag
will tell you, the ratio equivalency analysis,
methodology, that you accepted in Web IV should be
employed in this case, but it should be applied to
adjust the effective rates, that is, what the real
economic value of the agreement, and it should be
employed to adjust those effective rates, not the
contractual per-play rates. And that means starting
afresh with the benchmarking analysis conducted here
by Mr. Orszag, rather than using Web IV rates.

Now, with that, I'm going to turn to
Sirius XM's final benchmark, the SDARS II rates.
Using SDARS II, at least in the way Sirius XM wants
to, is wrong for at least three reasons.

First, the SDARS decision was made five
years ago based on evidence that is more than five
yvears old in a market that is characterized by rapid
change. Indeed, the SDARS II decision used as one
of its data points, the findings of the Judges in
SDARS I. Obviousgly, that's ten years old back when
we were walking around with boom boxes and Sony
Walkmen. Asg a general principle, SoundExchange's
economists are going to suggest that it makes no

sense in such a dynamic market to simply push
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But, second, what Sirius XM wants to do
is push forward the percentage-of-revenue rate.

What SoundExchange's economists, Mr. Orszag and
Professor Lys, will tell you is that if you consider
those rates at all, you should think of them in
terms of per-subscriber rates.

And the reason for that is that if you go
back to the SDARS I decision, the Judges there found
that the rate most strongly supported by the
evidence was $1.40 per subscriber. And the Judges
in SDARS I turned that $1.40 per subscriber into a
13 percent percentage-of-revenue rate with some
simple arithmetic. But the essence of the decision
was a finding that the interactive services
benchmark yielded ten years ago a rate of $1.40
per-subscriber.

Now, Professor Lys has calculated, I
think without any dispute, that if you took that
$1.40 from the SDARS I decision ten years ago,
increased it by the cost of living to today, that
current per-subscriber rate would be $1.67.

And if you then divide that $1.67 into
current Sirius XM revenue per user, based on the

definition of revenue as defined by the Judges in
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the regulations, that's going to result in a rate of
16 percent of revenue.

So if the Judges were inclined to push
forward the SDARS II rates at all, and we don't
believe that's what should happen, SoundExchange
economists will testify that the rate to be pushed
forward is the $1.40 per subscriber, which today
equates to $1.67 or 16 percent of revenue.

Finally, in SDARS I and SDARS II, the
Judges reduced the rates below the $1.40 most
strongly supported by the marketplace evidence
pursuant to certain of the 801 (b) objectives. And
we'd submit that's no longer necessary or
appropriate.

In SDARS I, the Judges reduced the rate
sharply in order to avoid having rates that would be
disruptive under 801 (b) (1) (D). No reduction under
subsection D is necessary now.

Professor Lys has analyzed Sirius XM's
current and projected future financial performance.
He has concluded that Sirius XM is extremely
profitable now and that it could pay the rates that
SoundExchange proposes and will remain highly
profitable throughout the upcoming rate term. And

Sirius XM, I think, has not contested that evidence
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In SDARS II, the Judges imposed a smaller
but still significant reduction under the third 801
objective to address Sirius XM's upcoming satellite
costs. Well, once again, Professor Lys demonstrates
that no such reduction should be made in this case.

One of the reasons, though hardly the
only, is that Sirius XM is so flush with cash now
that it's using that excess cash not on operations
but to buy back its stock. By the second quarter of
2016, Sirius XM had spent 7.3 billion dollars
repurchasing its stock from shareholders.

So if the Judges were now to reduce sound
recording royalties below market rates on the theory
that it's going to fund satellites, in fact, it's
going to roll right out the door to Sirius XM's
shareholders. And that, we submit, is not
consistent with the 801 objectives.

So for those reasons, we think that
pushing forward the SDARS II rates is not
appropriate, certainly not the way Sirius XM wants
to do it.

JUDGE BARNETT: You're at the omne-hour
mark.

MR. HANDZO: I'm sorry?
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JUDGE BARNETT: You're at the one-hour

mark.

MR. HANDZO: Thank you.

JUDGE BARNETT: Did I read your mind?

MR. HANDZO: Yes.

I've discussed the 801 objectives in
connection with Sirius XM's SDARS II benchmark, so
let me just complete that 801 discussion. As I
said, we don't think at this point, given Sirius
XM's financial performance, that any downward
adjustment under any factor from market rates is
appropriate. But if anything, there would be an
upward adjustment. As I mentioned, in past cases,
rates have been adjusted downward for the rates I
mentioned. Can we restrict, please?

And one of the things that Professor Lys
has done is he calculated, over the years since
those earlier decisions, what those downward
adjustments have cost the record companies in terms
of royalties that were not paid. In other words,
what's the difference between the rate that the
Judges found most strongly supported by the evidence
in SDARS I and the rate that the Judges actually
proposed? How much would we have gotten if we had

gotten the rate that the Judges found in SDARS I was
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answer is that the record companies would have
gotten over a billion dollars more in royalties from
SDARS I to now, had those reductions not been made.

Now, the economists I think would tell
you that fairness is a -- one of the 801 objectives,
but it's not a concept that i1s, strictly speaking,
an economic perspective -- economic concept.

But in layman's terms, if you contribute
a billion dollars, in fairmess, you ought to share
in the upside. And in a marketplace, if the record
companies had been asked to discount their royalty
rates in order to help Sirius XM survive, likely
they would have received an equity share in Sirius
XM.

Now, our rate proposal doesn't
incorporate an upward adjustment along the lines
that I've just been discussing, but I think at a
minimum, if the Judges determine a range of
potential rates in this case, in light of the
history that I just described, that rate should be
set at the top of the range.

Now, I want to close by -- on this part
of my argument by addressing a Sirius XM theme.

Sirius XM has argued that SoundExchange is proposing
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rates substantially higher than past rates. And I
suppose one obvious answer is that if that's what
the marketplace shows, so be it.

But it's also the case that while
SoundExchange does indeed propose an increase, 1it's
not nearly the increase that Sirius XM claims. And,
on the other hand, Sirius XM effectively proposes a
substantial decrease in rates, despite its financial
success and despite the higher market rates that we
see in the market.

So, for example, looking at it -- the way
Sirius XM wants to look at it is on a per-play
basis. But if you look at it on a per-subscriber
basis, as I =said before, the rates that the SDARS I
Judges found ten years ago most strongly supported
by the evidence was $1.40 per sub, which translates
into 1.67 today. Similarly, under the Web IV rates
that Pandora would have paid, the effective
per-subscriber rate for its Pandora I service in
2015 ig substantially higher than what Sirius XM
proposes to pay.

So what Sirius XM seeks is a substantial
decrease in the per-subscriber rates down to an
effective rate of $1.03 per subscriber, a reduction

not only compared to the market rates I showed you
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at the outset but also compared to statutory rates

looked at on a per-subscriber basis.

JUDGE STRICKLER: You don't have on this
bar chart an effective SDARS II per-subscriber rate;
am I correct?

MR. HANDZO: I -- no. I have the SDARS
I, $1.40 inflated to $1.67. I don't think the SDARS
II Court, if I'm remembering correctly, calculated a
per-subscriber rate.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Well, I know. But
you're talking about effective rates here. So will
there be any evidence as to what the effective SDARS
II pexr-subscriber rate is?

MR. HANDZO: I'm sure we can easily do
it. I'm not --

JUDGE STRICKLER: I'm asking whether it's
in any of your testimony?

MR. HANDZO: I don't think it is anyone's
testimony at the moment.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

MR. HANDZO: So, obviously, up to now,
I've been talking about the -- the appropriate
royalty rate for SDARS. And I do want to spend a
little bit of time talking about the terms.

You know, if the Judges adopt a
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percentage-of-revenue rate as -- as you have in the
past, then it's critical to examine the base that
the rate is being multiplied against. So if the
Judges pick 23 percent of revenue, the question is
23 percent of revenue, how do we define that?

And it has been SoundExchange's
experience in the past that the parties just
disagree on what amounts go into gross revenues
under the regulations.

So we have proposed a couple of changes
that we think will clarify those regulations. And
in the course of discovery, we found some other
disagreements. We found that Sirius XM has been
excluding amounts from gross revenues that could
never have been included in the first place. So
SoundExchange has proposed changes to the terms to
address exclusions like that so that they can't
continue.

But given the disagreements that have
arisen in the past of how the definition of revenue
is applied, SoundExchange is troubled by one of the
changes that Sirius XM proposes.

Sirius XM has asked to reduce the late
fee reguirement from 1.5 percent per month to the

Treasury rate, which is approximately 1 percent per
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vear. The problem is that that reduces Sirius XM's
incentives to make sure it gets its reporting right
the first time.

That low rate is not justified. As we'll
show in the evidence, Sirius XM's late fee of
1.5 percent, the current late fee of 1.5 percent, is
consistent with late fees found in other Sirius XM
agreements.

Indeed, Sirius XM has proposed a late fee
that is 4 percent lower than the lowest rate of its
senior notes that it issued in 2016. So that at the
level that Sirius XM proposes, it would be
economically rational for Sirius XM to obtain
short-term financing by routinely paying
SoundExchange late.

Similarly, SoundExchange believes that
Sirius XM should be required to pay associated audit
costs 1f a reasonably sized underpayment is at
stake. And, again, the point is to create economic
incentives for Sirius XM to play it straight.

SoundExchange believes that the threshold
is an underpayment totaling 5 percent of the full
amount owed. And, again, that's a threshold that is
consistent with marketplace agreements.

Now, there are numerous other terms,
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disputes between the parties, and we really will
present evidence of them. I'm not going to walk
through them all now. But one that I do also want
to comment on is that Sirius XM proposes changing
the methodology by which it carves out direct
license content so that such content is calculated
as a percentage of overall spins rather than
performances on the referenced channels. And that's
an effort to wind back the clock.

The Judges have previously determined in
SDARS II that direct licenses should be excluded
based on a percentage of spins. And the Judges did
that in part to eliminate Sirius XM's incentives to
load up on spins of excludable content in early
morning hours when there are relatively few
listeners. The logic of that is still strong, and
Sirius XM does not seem to have a good argument
otherwise.

Furthermore, Sirius XM intends to unveil
in the upcoming rate term a new product called 360L,
which will allow some two-way communications between
Sirius XM and its subscribers and presumably allow
Sirius XM to collect more data about satellite
listenexrship. That will allow Sirius XM to

calculate the direct license carveout with
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increased accuracy, and we think the regulations
should anticipate that.

So with that, I'll turn to my last --
last part of my outline, the PSS. And I'm trying to
reserve ten minutes for Mr. Johnson, so how much
time do I have left? Ten minutes? Piece of céke.

Obviously, we are also here to set a rate
for the preexisting subscription services. I will
likewise call them the PSS. And as the Judges know,
the PSS are just two Services, Muzak and Music
Choice. And only Music Choice is participating in
this proceeding.

Now, the current PSS rate is 8.5 percent.
And that's significantly the result of a decision in
1998 when the PSS were the only digital music
services in operation and there was no -- there were
no marketplace licenses. And because nobody knew
what the market would eventually look like, the CARP
and the Librarian expressly set a low rate favoring
fledgling Services, and the rate has inched up only
incrementally since.

Now, the music marketplace has changed a
lot in the last 20 years, and the PSS are no longer

little startups. It's an increasingly crowded
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market, and Music Choice is now the biggest service
in terms of subscribers and time spent listening,
but it generates low revenues and has the lowest
revenue share of any of these types of services.

And as a result, other services pay
dollars and sometimes many dollars per subscriber
per year in royalty, and the PSS pay pennies.
SoundExchange proposes increasing the PSS rate to
1.9 cents per subscriber per month for 2018 with an
annual increase thereafter.

Judge Barnett, do we need to --

JUDGE BARNETT: I'm fine.

MR. HANDZO: Are you okay?

JUDGE BARNETT: Go ahead.

MR. HANDZO: I hate it when Judges kind
of pass out on me in the course of...

SoundExchange's request is based on the
rates in Part 383 that are paid by a class of new
subscription services usually referred to as the
CABSAT services. And it has always been challenging
to set rates for the PSS because there really aren't
any good marketplace comparables. There are very
few Services that, like the PSS, provide a consumer
audio service through cable and satellite providers.

However, the CABSAT services are
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delivered through cable and satellite TV providers,
and the only meaningful difference is that the PSS
were in operation before 1998 and the CABSAT
services are after. Since the time of the SDARS II
proceeding, one of the CABSAT -- CABSAT services,
Stingray, has emerged as a real competitor to Music
Choice, even though it pays the higher CABSAT rates.

Now, because the CABSAT rates were set in
a proceeding subject to a willing buyer/willing
standard and have been accepted and are being paid
by Stingray, SoundExchange will offer testimony from
Dr. Wazzan that he believes the CABSAT rates provide
the best available benchmark for setting PSS rates.
Dr. Wazzan does not believe that any adjustments are
necessary to transposé the CABSAT benchmark into a
hypothetical market for PSS because the services are
the same in most material respects.

Now, I'm not going to tell you that the
CABSAT rates are an ideal benchmark. For starters,
they are a regulated rate. And they are also the
product of a settlement between SoundExchange and
Sirius XM.

However, Stingray, a non-party to that
settlement and presumably a profit-maximizing

entity, has in effect opted into the CABSAT rates
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and is paying those rates while competing with Music
Choice. And we think that makes the CABSAT rates
the closest thing anybody is likely to find to an
indicator of a market rate for the PSS. And
adopting that proposal eliminates a distortion in
the market where CABSAT services pay a different
rate from a very similar PSS service simply based on
the timing of when they entered the market.

Now, as you've heard, Music Choice

proposes that the PSS rate be reduced to no higher
than 5.6 percent of gross revenues. And that's
based on the testimony of their expert,
Dr. Crawford, who the Judges heard from in SDARS II.
He seems to have given up on identifying a benchmark
for the PSS, and instead he offers a similar version
of the Nash model that he presented in SDARS II.

Dr. Wazzan critiques the use of that
model, and we think it is just not applicable to the
PSS, but if you decide that model has some utility,
Dr. Wazzan describes the problems with application
and offers some ways to fix it. And when you do
that, the model generates results significantly
higher than the current PSS rates.

Now, I think listening to Mr. Fakler, it

really kind of seems like one of the themes of Music
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Choice's case is simply, you know, we should just
continue to pay low rates forever. And we don't
think that that's what the 801 objectives suggested.

Artists and Copyright Owners should not
always be the last ones waiting in line to be paid
money Music Choice has left after it pays all of its
other expenses. The Judges and their predecessors
have been hearing the same kind of sob story from
Music Choice for 20 years. But Music Choice has
been decently profitable over that period. It might
be less profitable if rates went up, but that's not
how the Judges have viewed disruption or the 801
factors.

Granting SoundExchange's rate request
will not disrupt -- disrupt the structure of the
industries or the prevailing practices, and we ask
the Court to adopt SoundExchange's proposal for
Music Choice and Muzak.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Will Dr. Wazzan speak
to the fair income prong of the 801 (b) factors as it
relates to the extent of the proposed rate increase?

MR. HANDZO: That's a good question. Nod
ves Oor no. To some extent, is the answer.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Sounds like a yes.

MR. HANDZO: I'm going to take it as a

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

JUDGE STRICKLER: Okay.

MR. HANDZO: That's all I have unless the
Judges have some questions for me.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you, Mr. Handzo.

MR. HANDZO: Thank you.

JUDGE BARNETT: I'm going to run and get
water while Mr. Johnson is coming up.

And, Mr. Handzo, I really have to thank
you for the visual of all of these suits walking
around with boom boxes on their shoulders. It was a
good one. I'll keep it with me throughout the year.

JUDGE FEDER: I think you were off by 20
years there but --

MR. HANDZO: Showing my age, no doubt, as
I often do.

JUDGE BARNETT: Yeah, but I understood
it.

MR. HANDZO: Yeah. Judge Barnett, we
have some water here if that would help.

JUDGE BARNETT: There's some right here.

MR. HANDZO: Okay.

JUDGE BARNETT: Good morning,

Mr. Johnson.

MR. JOHNSON: Good morning, Your Honors.
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JUDGE BARNETT: I understand you're on a

10-minute time clock?

MR. JOHNSON: I am.

JUDGE BARNETT: All right.

MR. JOHNSON: I'll go as fast as I
possibly can.

OPENING STATEMENT BY GEORGE JOHNSON

MR. JOHNSON: Thank you for having me. I
appreciate it. And, first, I agree with everything
that Mr. Handzo and SoundExchange just said. And I
thought they did a great job. And, of course, since
I have no economists and no money for all that, I'm
going to rely on their evidence and their economists
in submitting my rates, which are just slightly
above them in the percentage-of-revenue and also the
per-subscriber rates.

As Mr. Handzo just said, the market has
changed drastically and has changed drastically
since the last SDARS -- I call it SDARS --
proceeding five years ago. And, you know, we have a
compulsory license here, and statutory rates.

So while there is a lot of competition in
the marketplace, it's impossible to really have a
free-functioning competitive marketplace when you

have a statutory rate and a compulsory license on
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Copyright Owners, which are half the equation.

So the one thing that I think in general
this case is about, if you boil it all down to one
thing, is grandpa. And what I mean by that is
everything is grandfathered in. Music Choice has
been grandfathered in. Sirius XM has been
grandfathered in 20 years ago. As we just learned
or I learned, the 801 (b) standard was grandfathered
in.

So that was 20 years ago. And I think
grandpa was maybe pretty old at that point, maybe on
life support, and I just don't know when the
grandfathering is going to end. 2And I think since
we have -- you know, the code calls for de novo
rates and to look at it with fresh eyes, I think
that, you know, now after five years of the last
SDARS, how the marketplace has changed, that it's
important to raise these rates where a lot of the
other streaming services are paying, you know, 40,
50, 60 -- at one point, Pandora was paying -- I
think Pandora is paying 53 percent of its revenue
right now.

So, you know, SoundExchange offers 23.5
as their rate, and I offered 25 gross up to

40 percent, and that's low compared to what other
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similarly situated music services are paying at this
point.

So Sirius XM and Music Choice are kind of
the original streamers. And you have all this other
competition, all these other people out there, like
I just said. They're paying a huge percentage of
revenue, Pandora, Spotify, iHeartRadio, Rhapsody,
Napster, Beats, Apple Music, and Google Play.

And so if you could show 1179, please.

I only show this as an example, but, you
know, Sirius XM, they're moving into on-demand. And
you look at some of the other competition, Pandora,
everybody is blurring the lines between interactive
and, you know, non-interactive. And so I think
everybody is kind of getting into the same business
now. And they're all competing with each other.

Could you show 1120, please.

And Your Honors have seen this before.
And I'll talk more about it in my testimony. But
you can see that the -- the record industry is not
doing fine, when you look at it historically. And
when you, you know, listen to the Services talk,
they take it back, you know, five, ten years, but
when you look at the whole history of, you know,

record sales, they have been cannibalized. And I

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

151

would agree that -- with SoundExchange, and I have
told Your Honors before that sales are being
substituted for and they are being cannibalized by
all streaming, but as some evidence that I will show
that I believe is in the record, that Sirius XM,
their growth, incredible growth, is starting to cut
into the digital sales. And that concerns me as a
Copyright Owner.

So there's a lot more competition. You
have car hard drives, Smartphones, a lot more
computers, a lot more Smartphones, all around the
world that are using this music and using it at
below market rates.

Of course, GEO has no benchmarks. As the
Services informed Your Honors months ago when I
was -- they filed a motion to dismiss me, you know,
I'm unable to have a benchmark with Sirius XM or
Music Choice, since Sirius XM is a monopoly, the
only satellite radio provider out there. And, of
course, I hope that changes. So it's impossible for
me to have -- for me to have a benchmark.

And so, as I said, I have no economists
to prove my case. That's why I'm relying on
SoundExchange's evidence.

So I offered a per-subscriber rate --
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per-gsubscriber rate, and it's slightly more, two

more -- I'm sorry, two rates that are slightly
higher than what SoundExchange offered. And, you
know, Your Honors can use those rates or maybe, you
know, split the difference. And so that's why I
offer them because it's a higher amount that, you
know, if I don't offer it, Your Honors can't pick
it.

So I tried to offer a per-play rate, and
I like -- you know, as a copyright owner, I like it
when, you know, it's done on a per-performance
basis, but when I looked at -- looked at several,
oh, from SoundExchange, some -- you know, the rates
that Sirius XM was paying on SDARS plays, it ranged
from $2.54 to $12. And so, you know, I think the
reason why is because the large amount of money that
Sirius is making. When you divide that up on a
percentage of revenue and then see how many
performances, you know, that's a huge gap, $2 up to
$12. So I'd like to offer a per-play rate, but I
think it's almost impossible.

And Sirius XM is doing well. They're a
monopoly. They're a billion dollar company. And
you look at Pandora, which they're trying to compare

themselves. In Web IV, Pandora loses money and is
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-- as a lot of these streamers are, and pays over
50 percent of its revenue in music costs.

So I'd like to agree with the
substitution and cannibalization of sales. I also
agree with SoundExchange about the shadow of the
compulsory license. We creators can't negotiate.
It's not -- it's a one-way street. It should be
50/50 between the Copyright Owners and the
licensees.

And so I hope to prove in my evidence
that the Copyright Owners -- the 801 (b) standards,
that the Copyright Owners should get a fair return.
And, you know, the relative roles of the Copyright
Owners, our creative contribution, our technological
contribution in the studios making sound recordings,
our capital investment, our cost and our risk and
creative expression seem to have been ignored in a
lot of these past rate proceedings.

And so our industry has been extremely
disrupted, and I hope we can fix this. And so this
is one of the reasons I offered a buy button, which
I realize there are certain challenges, you know,
not having -- trying to buy a sound recording,
there's no compulsory license for it, but since the

Sexrvices are already in the music licensing
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business, I thought this was an opportunity where

they can voluntarily try the buy button, or I'd love
to see it as a mandatory option for customers, so to
help make up the gap for the revenue that we are not
getting anymore because of the streaming and
webcasting and satellite radio.

So that is it. I appreciate it, Your
Honors. And thank you so much.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you, Mr. Johnson.

We will be at recess for an hour. It
will be 1:45.

(Whereupon, at 12:46 p.m., a lunch recess

was taken.)
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AFTERNOON SESSION
(1:54 p.m.)

JUDGE BARNETT: Good afternoon. Please
be seated. Mr. Rich?

MR. RICH: Before we call our first
witness, Ms. Singer has a tiny bit of housekeeping,
if she may.

JUDGE BARNETT: Certainly.

MS. SINGER: Good morning or good
afternoon, Your Honors. I am delighted to report
that while all these guys were doing their glamorous
openings, the rest of us were back at the office
negotiating, and that the parties have reached
agreement to withdraw objections on the
admissibility of a number of exhibits.

And we -- your April 4th order
contemplated that the parties could move
unobjected-to exhibits en masse. We filed an order,
a motion, joint motion earlier today with an
attachment that has a number of exhibits. We have
extra copies if you would like to see, but we are
hoping that if Your Honors grant that motion, then
two of the exhibits that are going to be part of Mr.
Rich's direct examination of Professor Shapiro will

have been moved into evidence.
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JUDGE BARNETT: I see. Okay.

MS. SINGER: That is Trial Exhibits 8 and
9, Dr. Shapiro's written direct testimony and his
written rebuttal testimony.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you. Now, I have
on the desk in front of me -- is this the list of
agreed exhibits? You can't see it from there.

THE CLERK: That is from me.

JUDGE BARNETT: Oh, that is from you.
Sorry. Never mind.

Okay. How many agreed exhibits are
there?

MS. SINGER: There is a little over 200
that are agreed.

JUDGE BARNETT: Then we won't read those
numbers into the record. But when you have an
opportunity, be sure the court reporter and the
clerk each get a list of the admitted exhibits.

MS. SINGER: We will do, Your Honor.
Thank vyou.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you, Ms. Singer.
You know how to curry favor.

(Joint Exhibit Numbers 7-9, 11, 19-22,
24-26, 28, 39, 40, 43, 44, 46, 51, 52, 54, 59 were

marked and received into evidence.)
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(SoundExchange Exhibit Numbers 103, 105,

112-114, 117, 118, 123, 125-129, 131-133, 137-139,
143-152, 155, 156, 161.2, 166, 167, 169, 176, 207,
208, 221-224, 226, 243-247, 253, 254, 265, 267, 271,
272, 276-281, 284-289, 294, 401-405, 408-428, 431,
437-439, 441, 442, 444, 445, 448, 450, 453 were
marked and received into evidence.)

(Sirius XM Exhibit Numbers 601, 622, 625,
642-645, 647-655, 659-666, 671, 673, 675, 683, 684,
687-691, 706-718, 724, 727, 734-740, 754-757 were
marked and received into evidence.)

(Music Choice Exhibit Numbers 904, 906,
909-917, 920, 922, 926, 929-931, 933, 935, 936, 958,
970-~-982, 984, 985, 994, 1001, 1003 were marked and
received into evidence.)

JUDGE BARNETT: Mr. Rich?

MR. RICH: May we call our first witness?

JUDGE BARNETT: Please.

MR. RICH: We call Professor Carl Shapiro
to the stand.
Whereupon- -

CARL SHAPIRO,

having been first duly sworn, was examined and
testified as follows:

MR. RICH: We are distributing binders,
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which are the witness' testimony, several other

exhibits, which we will move into evidence in due
course, as well as a set of demonstratives that the
witness has prepared to assist his examination.

JUDGE BARNETT: Thank you. And for the
record, Exhibits 8 and 9 are the written direct
testimony and the corrected written rebuttal
testimony?

MR. RICH: That's correct.

JUDGE BARNETT: Of Dr. Shapiro
respectively.

MR. RICH: Thank you.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. RICH:

Q. Good afternoon, Professor Shapiro.
Welcome back to this forum.

A. Thank you. Good afternoon, Mr. Rich.

Q. Would you please describe your current
academic affiliation?

A. I am a professor at the University of
California at Berkeley. My primary appointment is
in the Haas School of Business, but I hold a joint
appointment in the Department of Economics.

Q. And I take it you have received some

recognition among other things for your professorial
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abilities, you are or at least were accorded

something called above scale professor; is that

correct?
A. Yes, that's correct.
0. This is a moment when you can be immodest

through this phase of it. What does that indicate?

A. It is a designation within the University
of California system for -- very highest level of
our series of steps and ranks that a professor can
earn. So after -- even after you become a
professor, then there is additional hurdles and
that's the last one. I think it means it is time to
retire.

Q. You have also served on a particularly
interesting committee, haven't you, which has some
purview over faculty and the like? Could you
describe that briefly?

A. Yes. I served on the committee that
reviews professors of all sorts at U.C. Berkeley for

appointments, promotion, endowed chairs, salary

increases.

Q. Must have made you popular.

A, Well, it is very secretive, actually. It
is part of what makes it work well is there is -- it
is -- it is hidden. You don't have to interact
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directly with the candidate, so if you are tough,
you can be tough without that.

But the point I think is that this was
several years of.extensive duty with evaluating the
academic performance of professors, of faculty
members at Berkeley.

Q. You have a Ph.D. in economics from MIT;
is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And would you describe your areas of
concentration as an economist?

A. Certainly. So within the field, within

economics, my field is industrial organization. And

traditionally that has meant issues of competition,
government regulation, business broadly defined.
Within that and adjacent to that I have
done a lot of work in antitrust economics, which
would be a more applied branch of industrial
organization. And I have also done quite a lot of
work bordering on law and economics, in particular
intellectual property rights, much of it involving
patents, and much of it involving the high-tech
industry or sort of media and content industries.
Q. Your curriculum vitae indicates an

extensive publishing history. Are there any recent
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areas of publishing concentration that might be of

general interest to the Judges?

A. Well, I have been working in this area of
patents, in particular, what are called standard
essential patents, so the patents you need to have
your WiFi work for your cell phone, for example.
And these raise interesting issues of competition.
The patents have -- many patents have to be used
together, so there is complementary inputs,
complementary oligopoly, and often commitments on
the part of firms to have their technology included
in the standard to license on reasonable terms.

So that whole complex of issues,
intellectual property, licensing, patent pools,
technology I have been working in that area, it has

interested me lately.

Q. You have done a couple of stints of
formal government service. Is that true?

A. It is.

Q. Could you recount what those are, please?

A. Yes. I have served twice as the deputy

assistant attorney general for economics in the
Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice,
which we usually just say chief economist at DOJ.

So that's antitrust enforcement, mergers, cartel
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work --

Q. Am I correct that was in the periods
1995, '96 and then again 2009 to 20117

A. That's right. I did one year in the
Clinton administration, and then I did two more
years right at the beginning of the Obama
administration. And then at the end of that second
duty tour, I was privileged to be invited to join
the President's Council of Economic Advisors, which
ig in the Executive Office of the President giving
the President economic advice on basically all
issues of economic policy. There are three members.

I was one of the three members who served that

function.
Q. That was in the period 2011 to 20127
A. Correct.
Q. Okay. What were your duties as, in your

two stints as deputy assistant attorney general for
economics of the Antitrust Division?

A. Well, supervising the whole cadre of
economists who work at the Antitrust Division.
There are 60 Ph.D. economists and other economists
of different levels, as well as financial analysts.

So supervising the economic analysis

being done and then reporting and giving my views
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and my team's views to the -- to my boss, who was

the assistant attorney general for antitrust, who
would really be in charge of antitrust enforcement.
So that would be involved in all matters
before the Antitrust Division that had an economic
aspect, which are most. And other policy issues.
If speeches were to be given or policy statements or
guidelines, in that role, I would have a hand in
that as well.

Q. And briefly what were your duties as a
member of the Council of Economics Advisors?

A. Well, they are so extensive, I don't want
to take too much time, but basically give the
President of the United States objective economic
advice on what he needed to know, whether it was
reforming the housing finance system, what we would
do with trade with China, something about patent
reform or environmental regulation.

So really whatever was important to the
President and his top people at that time, within my
portfolio. I did not do labor economics or macro SO
much, but in the areas I talked about, it would be
guite broad.

Q. You state at page 2 of your written

direct testimony that an important aspect of your
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research involves the information technology sector

of the economy.

Could you describe that a bit more?

A. Yes. So I mean by that, what we normally
think of as the high-tech sector, software,
Internet-related, but also information products such
as, well, music would be one or video content.

I wrote a book with Hal Barry, and it is
almost 20 years ago now, called Information Rules, A
Strategié Guide to the Network Economy. And I have
been working in those sectors of the economy
extengively for all that time and before that.

Of course in part it is irresistible,
since I am in the Bay area and there is so much
activity in that area that is local.

Q. I take it you have provided expert
testimony in a variety of forums?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. And has that included as related to the
music industry?

A. Yegs. Well, I was here before the Judges

about two years ago, I guess, somewhat less.

Q. And in the -- what we call the Web IV
proceeding?
A. Yes.

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



165

1 Q. And as well you provided testimony or
‘ 2 have you provided testimony more generally in

3 relation to what you term the high-tech sector,

4 including relating to companies providing content

5 and serviceg in that sector?

6 A. Yes, I have. Both working for the

7 government in some cases and working for companies,

8 I have done various assignments, some of which lead

9 to testimony.

10 Q. Now, you state that you have also served

11 on a number of occasions as an expert witness or

12 consultant to either the Antitrust Division or the

13 FTC.
‘ 14 Are there several recent examples you

15 could share with the Court?

16 A. Well, one prominent example since I was
17 last here before Your Honors, I served in 2014, 2015
18 as an economic expert for the Justice Department in
19 their review and ultimately challenge to the
20 Comcast/Time Warner merger, two very large cable

! 21 companies.

| 22 And that got very deeply into the

} 23 relationships between video distributors, such as

! 24 cable companies, and programmers who sell or license

25 their programming to the distributors. So that was
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one major engagement. It did not lead to testimony.

The merger did not proceed. But I did have
extensive work on that.

Q. And has there been a recent, one or more
recent engagements by the FTC?

A. Yes. More recent, I have been working
for the FTC, in January of this year, they
challenged -- I will say issued a complaint against
Qualcomm relating to Qualcomm's licensing practices
regarding their technology for the way that cell
phones interact with -- handle the cell signals,
chipsets that go in your cell phone.

And I am working for the Federal Trade
Commission on that case.

Q. Thank you.

A. It is ongoing.

0. Now, I understand you have also recently
exported your talent; is that true?

A. That is true. I testified earlier this
vear on behalf of the Competition and Markets
Authority, which is the U.K. competition authority
in a case for them in London.

Q. And was there a colloguial manner in
which you and others described that process in which

you engaged?

Heritage Reporting Corporation
(202) 628-4888



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

167

A. I believe you are referring to the "hot

tub."

Could you describe that?

A. They are just introducing in England this
new way of handling expert testimony, and I have to
say I was thinking of the Judges here very much in
doing that because it was in front of a three-judge
panel. And what they are doing there -- by the way,
they have imported it from Australia and New
Zealand, this method, whereby instead of the system
we're doing here of an expert witness testifies and
is cross-examined, all the experts sit in front of
the Judges at the same time and are gquestioned by
the Judges and interact with each other. In my case
it was for three or four days.

And I see you are blanching at the very
thought. But --

JUDGE BARNETT: It sounds to me like rip
the Band-Aid off.

THE WITNESS: So I hadn't done that
before, and it was quite interesting. The Judges
were amazing. And I think it is a lot of work for
the Judges, by the way, in case you ever think about
doing this.

And so I did that. It was about a month
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. 2 MR. RICH: Thank you. At this point I
3 would like to offer Professor Shapiro as an expert
4 in industrial organization economics, antitrust
5 economics, and the economics of innovation and
6 intellectual property rights.
7 MR. HANDZO: No objection.
8 JUDGE BARNETT: Professor Shapiro is so
9 qualified.
10 BY MR. RICH:
11 Q. All right. Thank you. The fun is over,
12 sir. Now we have to do business.
13 Would you describe the nature of the
‘ 14 assignment you have been given by Sirius XM in this
15 proceeding?
16 A. I was asked to do an economic analysis to
17 come up with a proposal for reasonable rates under,
18 in this proceeding, under the applicable statutory
19 standards.
20 0. And I take it that culminated in your
21 filing a written direct and rebuttal testimony,

22 which appears in your binder as Trial Exhibits 8 and

23 97
24 A. Yes, that's correct.
25 Q. Okay. And approximately when did you
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begin working on this assignment, do you recall?

A. I would say early 2016, first quarter.

Q. In connection with the background you
wanted to pull together, did you review any prior
CRB determinations?

A. Certainly. I reviewed gquite closely the
SDARS II and the Web IV determinations.

Q. And have you had occasion to review other

testimony that has been submitted in this

proceeding?
A. Yes, I have.
Q. Do you recall either specifically or

generally what that is?

A. Well --

Q. Let's go by witness. So with respect to
other testimony submitted by Sirius XM, what other
testimony do you recall having reviewed?

A, Well, certainly Mr. Meyer, Mr. Frear, Mr.
Blatter and White, so various executiveg from Sirius
XM. And there is the financial woman who does more
of the financials, some of the analysis. I can't
remember her name exactly, I'm sorry. And --

Q. What about any expert testimony, other
than your own?

A. And then Mr. Lenski, whose survey I am
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relying on; Professor Farrell at the rebuttal stage.
I feel like I am probably -- oh, and then Professor
Hauser also in the rebuttal stage. Those are the
ones that are coming to mind.

Q. Thank you. And have you reviewed any of
the written direct and/or written rebuttal testimony

submitted by experts for Sirius XM?

A. Yes.

Q Who?

A Quite a bit.

Q. Who?

A Well, certainly Mr. Orszag and Professor
Willig.

JUDGE STRICKLER: You mean SoundExchange,

right?

MR. RICH: Oh, did I misspeak? I beg
your pardon.

JUDGE STRICKLER: I do that all the time
because the acronyms are too close.
BY MR. RICH:

Q. Thank you very much, Judge. The question
before you is which experts who submitted testimony
on behalf of SoundExchange whose testimony have you
reviewed?

A. Certainly Mr. Orszag and Professor
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Willig, Professor Lys, Mr. Boedeker. We have -- I

have looked at the Dhar and Simonson work to some
degree.
Q. Blackburn is in the room. Do you want to

include him in the list?

A. Thank you, yes. Mr. or Dr. Blackburn, T
believe.

Q. Doctor. And Dx. Ford?

A. Yes. Thank you.

Q. What about any of the survey experts on

-- in the opening you heard counsel for the other
side mention there were four survey experts; two
from us, two from them.
Did you review either the surveys done by

either Professors Dhar and/or Simonson?

A. Yes, I looked at their testimony too.

Q. Okay. Have you had occasion to look at
any of the fact testimony submitted by any of the

SoundExchange witnesses?

A. Yes.
Q. What do you recall reviewing?
A. So Mr. Harrison and Walker probably both

direct and rebuttal stages. Mr. Barros, I think
maybe just rebuttal.

Q. Let me just associate for the Court's
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benefit, since we're all getting acgquainted or in
some cases reacquainted, Mr. Harris is the Universal
employee?

A. Yes.
And Mr. Walker?
Would be Sony.
And Mr. Barros?

Concord.

ORI o I A ©)

Thank you. And have you reviewed part or
all of any of the depositions that have been
conducted in this case?

A. I didn't review them in total, although
I, when I asked questions -- as part of my
investigations, my staff has at times given me parts
of those depositions that I have looked at.

Q. Now, have you prepared a set of
demonstratives to accompany your testimony beginning
this afternoon?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Could you take a look at the set that's
before you and that's been distributed to the Judges
and confirm whether those are the ones you prepared?

A. They are.

0. Okay. And looking at the first of those,

let me just indicate the roadmap for Your Honor's
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We're essentially going to divide Mr.

Shapiro's appearance today, assuming into tomorrow,
into two phases, which is an overview of his direct,
written direct testimony and then an overview of his
rebuttal testimony, which was the agreed protocol.
We will occasionally flip between the

two, just in terms of what's logical to complete a
topic, but with that in mind, can you describe what
the first slide depicts, please?

A. So this is the outline or overview of the
main topics that we will be talking about related to
my direct testimony.

Q. Okay. Now, let's begin by discussing the
economic framework that you employed in determining
the rates that you have recommended to the Judges
here.

A. Okay.

Q. Can you do that? And that is -- and I
will give references where I can, Your Honors, to
the written testimony to facilitate the record.

That is written direct testimony Section 5, covering
pages 15 through 23.
A. So this is the second slide in the set of

demonstratives that we just were discussing. So the
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first bullet here notes that I'm aware that this
proceeding is taking place under certain -- with
certain 801 (b) objectives as determining the rates.

And that is not the same from my point of
view as in the previous proceeding, it is not simply
a willing buyer/willing seller standard. They are,
I will say, closely related or the willing
buyer/willing seller analysis very heavily informs
what I understand to be the 801 (b) objectives, but
they are not identical.

Most of my -- really the vast majority,
what I have to tell you is related to the willing
buyer/willing seller standard. And then I have done
some work to address differences between what that
would imply and 801 (b), where I feel I can
contribute something as an economist.

Q. And so was the starting point for your
801 (b) analysis attempting to identify suitable
marketplace benchmarks that would reflect the
prevailing willing buyer/willing seller test?

A. Well, so, yes. I guess we have already
now brought in the idea of benchmarking. I am very
much taking a benchmarking approach. And that is,
for most of the market agreements one would look to,

would be willing buyer/willing seller. And then we
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have to look at the market conditions.

And that -- then so I need to pay
attention to whether there is some gap between that,
a benchmarking approach suitably adjusted and the
801 (b) objectives. And that's what I pointed to
here.

Q. And in identifying willing buyer/willing
seller rates that would form the basis for
benchmarking, what market characteristics were you
looking fox?

A. Okay. So these are the additional
bullets here. It just states the obvious, that what
we're trying to do is deal with the rates that we
would see between Sirius XM as a buyer, a single
record company as a seller in a workably competitive
market.

So that's the key feature that we need to
pay attention to. And looking at benchmarks or any
agreements we see, really, if they are not occurring
in a workably competitive market, then if we're
going to use them, we would need to do some
adjustments to correct for that fact.

Q. Now, in your second bullet on slide 2,
you say "seller equals record company." Do you mean

that in the individual as opposed to in the plural?
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And, if so, could you explain the importance of

that?

A. I do mean it in the individual. And it
is -- there is a very big difference between what a
single record company, I will use Warner as my
example, would obtain in rates negotiating with
Sirius XM as opposed to all the record companies, if
they could band together and negotiate as a block
would be able to get from Sirius XM.

The difference is precisely because of
the power of competition, which comes into play when
one record company is negotiating, which we, in all
markets, the point being one company, one seller
will offer better terms to get a bigger market
share.

So we very much need to be talking about
the seller as a single record company.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Professor Shapiro, good
afternoon.

THE WITNESS: Good afternoon.

JUDGE STRICKLER: You just expressed your
concern about having the record companies
negotiating individually as opposed to collectively
when they have a monopoly sort of power.

But on this bullet point you only have
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the one buyer, Sirius XM. Were you concerned at all
in doing your analysis of what constituted workable
competition or effective competition that you only
had one buyer within this satellite market and you
had a monopsony issue that you needed to consider?

THE WITNESS: So, yes, I did address
that. I can find it if we want in the written
direct testimony. I don't see that Sirius XM has
monopsony power because Sirius XM is a, such a small
share of the record company revenue overall.

So normally monopsony we would say arises
if a given buyer restricts how much they buy to
raise the price, walking up the supply curve. And
if one buyer is one of many that are served by the
sellers, then that is not going to be a concern.

JUDGE STRICKLER: You mentioned the
supply.curve. In order to figure out whether a
potential buyer does or does not have some sort of
market power monopsony power, wouldn't you first
need to define the market itself; in other words,
what good or what service that you are asking about?

THE WITNESS: That would -- okay. I
mean, I don't -- you would want to know what the
demand and supply curves look like anyhow, yes.

JUDGE STRICKLER: To do that, you have to
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know what market you were talking about; isn't that
correct?

THE WITNESS: Okay. I was talking --

JUDGE STRICKLER: You don't need to
patronize me. You can disagree if you disagree.

THE WITNESS: I don't -- often defining
-- drawing a boundary between what is in and out of
the market as a zero/one discrete thing can be
unhelpful, rather than informative. So that's why I
have been hesitating.

I am thinking of the supply curve of
music. And if the price that Sirius XM pays for
music is less, will there be less music created?
That's the economic question I'm asking.

And we can put that into a relevant
market. We can do that. But that's the underlying
guestion.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Well, I asked the
question because at least initially couldn't we
conceive of the market in two different ways,
depending on the substitutability or cross
elasticity of the services? The market for
satellite radio, there is a monopsony, it is only
one company providing the satellite services in the

United States.
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And then if it is broader to look at

other types of streaming, non-interactive streaming,
which you look at closely in -- or interactive
streaming, as SoundExchange does when the market is
a broader market.

THE WITNESS: Right.

JUDGE STRICKLER: So does it concern you
at all in -- in figuring out what a workably
competitive market looks like, the fact that Sirius
XM is the only provider of satellite services and,
therefore, the only upstream buyer that utilizes
music to sell into that downstream market?

THE WITNESS: Okay. 8o let's talk -- the
target market here that we will be talking about is
the market for the licensing of recorded music to
satellite radio. So let's use that. We will be
talking about that a lot.

And so there is only one buyer in that
market, Sirius XM. Okay? You could ask whether the
rates that the record companies would get would be
considerably higher if there were three or four.
Maybe before Sirius and XM merged, for example,
there were two.

I have not studied that question. I

don't actually know the answer to that question.
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But I guess I have gone so far as to say if the

concern is higher prices and that having an adverse
effect, higher prices in this market, having an
adverse effect on the supply of music, I think that
that's when you look at the share of revenues to
record companies through this channel.

JUDGE STRICKLER: But if we're talking
about the one buyer with monopsony power, we're
talking about potentially, hypothetically is my
question, lower, lower prices, because the buyer has
that power to negotiate lower prices.

I mean, if we abstracted to the point
that there was no other streaming at all --

THE WITNESS: Right.

JUDGE STRICKLER: -- other than
satellite, Sirius XM would really have terrific
buying power because there would be no
substitutability, right?

THE WITNESS: Well, certainly Sirius XM
has a certain degree of bargaining power because of
their size.

JUDGE STRICKLER: I am not asking about
bargaining power. I am asking about market power.

THE WITNESS: Okay. So normally -- so I

don't see that they have market power because --
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monopsony power, let me use that term. I may have
misspoke in my previous answer, but the question I
would ask is to distinguish bargaining power from
monopsony power, would be if Sirius XM can bargain
for a lower rate because they are the only satellite
service, will that lead to a reduction in the supply
of music? At least that's how I would pose the
monopsony power guestion.

And to answer that question, you
immediately find that you want to know how important
is satellite radio as a revenue source for the
record companies? And we have an exhibit on this
that it is -- I don't think that's restricted, I am
not sure -- but it is actually slide 8.

And it is, I will just say, you know, a
small share of record company revenue. It is the
lowest -- it is the --

MR. RICH: It is restricted.

THE WITNESS: It is restricted. It is
the dark red at the bottom. Okay.

So bargaining power, yes. Monopsony
power, no, is what I'm trying to say.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank vyou.

BY MR. RICH:

Q. We were beginning to talk about searching
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for suitable benchmarks reflecting conditions that
you look for in a workably competitive market.

In general, what characteristics does a
workably competitive market exhibit?

A. The key thing is --

0. Pardon me one second. I'm sorry to
interrupt my own guestion.

Judges, Professor Shapiro addresses the
monopsony issue at page 37 of his written direct
testimony.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Thank you.

BY MR. RICH:

Q. Thank you. Please go ahead.

A. So the hallmark of a workably competitive
market is that the suppliers are offering better
terms, in particular price, to the customers in
order to gain market share. And that's a vigorous,
meaningful activity that we see.

Q. Can a market be workably competitive even
if it is guite concentrated?

A. Yes, it can be. Some people say, for
example, Boeing and Airbus compete very vigorously
to sell their planes to airlines, even though there
is only two of them. And that can happen.

Q. Is a market that is monopolized or
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controlled by a cartel workably competitive?

A. No. It would not be. A cartel is --
well or a monopoly, then we by definition don't have
the competition among suppliers that we need in
order to have competition working.

Q. Are you familiar with the concept of a
must-have seller?

A. Yes, I am.

Q. And as you use that concept, what meaning
does it have?

A. To me I would use that term to mean that
the buyer in question doesg not have a commercially
viable business or service without the input of that
gseller. Let me add for Judge Strickler, we could
imagine a must-have customer, if we flip things
around in the same way. And a must-have customer
would be one if the supplier can't get the business
of that customer, they are not going to be able to
have a viable business.

There was some discussion, for example,
in Comcast/Time Warner Cable, whether if they
merged, they would have so many of the households,
they would become a must-have customer for certain
programming. So it can go in either direction.

And I don't think there is any serious
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question that record companies do not need Sirius XM
as a customer in order to have a viable business.

So that's another way to see the
difference between bargaining power and market
power, a must-have buyer doesn't apply here. We
would be talking, we're going to focus on must-have
sellers because that is relevant in this situation.

0. Let me ask you this. Can a market
featuring one or more must-have record companies be
workably competitive?

A. No, any market with one or more must-have
suppliers is not workably competitive simply because
each supplier just has so much power over the
customer by the definition of""must have."

Q. More specifically, what characteristics
must the music licensing market under examination

here have to meet the test of being workably

competitive?
A. Well, we have been talking about must
have. So for a music licensing market, any of the

ones we're going to talk about, to be workably
competitive, there have to be no must-have
suppliers, and the customers must need to have the
ability to shift the music share of what the -- the

play share, I will call it, in response to
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differences in prices or royalty rates charged by
the different suppliers.

So this is an ability to engage in
steering.

JUDGE STRICKLER: When you say the
customer must have the ability to steer, are you
talking about the potential to steer or the actual
exercigse of the ability to steer?

THE WITNESS: What I mean is that --
let's describe it from the point of view of a record
company. The record company has to be of the view
that if they charge a higher rate than the others,
let's say, they will lose some play share. And if
they discount below the others, they will gain some
play share.

Now, that is going to require certainly
that the customer in question has the ability to
move play shares or steer, but it is more than that.
It has to be that the -- that the -- there is an
incentive there as well in the sense that it is
credible and believable that the customer would
indeed move significant share based on differences
in royalty rates.

JUDGE STRICKLER: Would you be concerned

if you saw evidence that there, in fact, was not
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1 steering going on, even though there was the

‘ 2 incentive to steer?
3 THE WITNESS: Well, that raises naturally
4 the question if there is a significant difference in
5 royalty rates and no resulting steering, that the
6 customer might -- well, either not have the ability
7 or I think more precisely not have sufficient
8 incentive and, therefore, the market might not be
9 workably competitive.
10 This element could be absent. And we
11 would probably see that going along with a lack of
12 price competition.
13 BY MR. RICH:

‘ 14 Q. Beginning at page 17 of your written

15 direct testimony, you discuss the pricing of

16 differentiated products. Do you recall that?

17 A, Yes.

18 0. And what are differentiated products as
19 relevant to the issues presented here?

20 A. It simply means that the product that one
i 21 supplier offers is not identical to that offered by
| 22 other suppliers. The alternative -- the other group
23 would be so-called homogeneous products, such as

24 maybe agricultural product or crude oil or

25 something.
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So it means the sellers are selling

products that are distinct and, therefore, customers
will differ in how they like one product versus

another. And they won't entirely make their choices
based on price. There will be other considerations.

Q. And is the recorded music industry one
that reflects the phenomenon of differentiated
products?

A. Yes. It is a great example. There are
many, many songs, and they are all distinct. And
we, as listeners, we value variety. So it also is
important that customers, whether it is end
customers or music services, want to have a wide
range of music to offer or listen to.

Q. Now, in this section of your testimony,
you refer to the Lerner equation. Can you tell the
Judges what the Lerner eqguation is?

A. The Lerner equation is the -- describes
the relationship between three variables; the price
that a firm sets, which is the object of interest;
the marginal cost to that firm, that is the cost of,
associated with selling more of its product or
output; and then the price sensitivity of the
customer, which is captured in elasticity of demand.

Q. So how does that equation actually use
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those variables or what does it predict?

A. So the Lerner eqguation teaches us that a
firm will first will set its price above its
marginal cost -- a firm with a differentiated
product wili set its price above marginal cost, and
we would call that a markup. And the equation
actually describes the magnitude of that markup and
states that that markup will be high if the customer
is not very sensitive to price. That is, if the
quantity of customer purchases does not vary greatly
or sensitively with the price.

Put that the other way, if you have a
customer whose quantity of purchasing is very
sensitive to price, then the markup will be small.
To give an example, as one gasoline station with
other gasoline stations very nearby, they try to
charge more than the prevailing rate. Customers
will drive a few blocks, buy somewhere else. That
is a situation where customers are very sensitive to
price and we would expect very small margins. The
gas stations are charging relatively little above
their cost, which would be normally what they pay
for the fuel for the wholesaler.

Alternatively a gas station, and we have

all experienced this, out in the middle of nowhere
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where there is no other gas stations nearby, the

customers will not be so sensitive because they
can't drive -- there is no place to go, particularly
if they are low on fuel, and we would expect a
higher markup in those areas. And that is widely
observed.

Q. Is what you described a sensitivity
measured by what economists call the elasticity of
input demand?

A. Yes. In general, the elasticity of
demand, in this case we're going to be talking about
the product being sold is music. The quantity is
how much music is being purchased by the service and
listened to by its users, number of songs. And so
the elasticity i1s measuring the sensitivity of the
gquantity to the price.

Q. Why does one focus on -- why is the right
measure of the quantity of music being performed in
that analysis?

A. Well, whenever we're talking about a firm
lowering its price, the -- well, the whole idea of
-- well, pricing is if a firm lowers its price, it
is going to sell more output. And so Lerner
equations about those relationships.

In this -- in the markets -- well, we're
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going to talk about upstream markets for licensing

of music and downstream markets for music services.
We're now talking or I'm talking about the upstream
market where the record companies are selling.

And if they lower their royalty rate in a
workably competitive situation, the service in
question will play more of their music, steering.

And so playing more is about more songs
played on that service. So the units in which we're
measuring quantity and the units in which the Lerner
Index applies to record companies are number of
songs .

So we're going to talk a lot about
steering and opportunity costs, so the price is the
price per song often put in pro rata terms, but
comes down to price per song. Cost is the marginal
cost to the record company of having its songs
played more on the service. Elasticity relates to
steering.

JUDGE BARNETT: Professor Shapiro, I have
a question for you.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

JUDGE BARNETT: You talked about
differentiated products and you said the music

industry is a perfect example. But let's just use
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the three Majors for now.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

JUDGE BARNETT: It is not like Sony plays
only R&B or has licensed, to license only R&B and
Warner has only country and Universal has only
classical. They are must haves. They all have the
full gamut of music.

And so as far as choosing to steer, the
steering possibilities are greater when one record
company has the full range of music to offer,
correct?

THE WITNESS: Okay.

JUDGE BARNETT: So I don't know how you
can say that the record labels offerings are
differentiated.

THE WITNESS: So, first, I think since
the -- in the, what we're trying to do here is look
at negotiations between a record company and Sirius
XM over the entire repertoire of the record company.

So the object we will be talking about
licensing is not one song; it is the whole
repertoire. So when I said: Oh, it is a
differentiated market, all these songs are
different, that's true.

I think the more important concept for
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